The application of biochar as a soil amendment in land reclamation

by

Jinhu Liu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Land Reclamation and Remediation

Department of Renewable Resources

University of Alberta

© Jinhu Liu, 2015

## Abstract

Surface mining activities cause severe adverse effects on soils. Scientists across the world have used different physical, chemical and biological reclamation techniques to recover mining disturbed areas. The effectiveness and efficiency of reclamation techniques is crucial to reclamation success. Biochars are biological residues combusted under low oxygen conditions, resulting in a porous, low-density carbon rich material. Research has suggested that biochar can be used as an amendment to improve soil physical, chemical, and biological quality. The present study investigated the application of biochar as a soil amendment for land reclamation. Specifically, the impact of biochar application on aspen growth, microbial biomass, soil respiration, heavy metal adsorption, and metabolic quotient were measured in a greenhouse experiment using land reclamation soils and in a field experiment on a reclaimed coal mine west of Edmonton, AB, Canada. Results of the greenhouse experiment showed that the biochar had the ability to retain the soil nutrients, increase the soil microbial biomass and soil heterotrophic respiration; while the petroleum- coke had a negative impact on tree growth. In the field experiment, the results showed that biochar increased DOC, DON (dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen), MBC and MBN (microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen) and soil heterotrophic respiration. The results are consistent with previous findings, which suggested that biochar can improve soil available nutrient and increase microbial activity.

# Acknowledgement

I wish to especially express my gratitude to my supervisors Dr. M. Derek MacKenzie and Dr. S. Ellen Macdonald for their guidance and assistance, and without whom I would not have learned so much new knowledge in soil science, ecology, soil biology, land reclamation and statistics, etc.

I would like to thank the PEREL and ClanMac groups for their help and support, especially Sanatan, Arezoo and Jill. Special thanks to Dr. Simon Landhausser and his research group for help. I would like to thank Dr. Miles Dyck and Dr. Anne Naeth, for their support. I also gratefully acknowledge the Helmholtz- Alberta Initiative, the China Scholarship Council (CSC) and the Department of Renewable Resources for funding. I thank Megan Lewis, Diana Dabrowa, Simon Bockstette, Eckehart Marenholtz, Frances Leishman, Chow Pak, Jana Bockstette, and Yiping Hao for their help in the greenhouse and field experiments.

I would like to thank my parents and brothers, for their unconditional love and support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Chapter1. General introduction

1.1	Disturbances	1
	1.1.1 Surface mining as an anthropogenic disturbance	2
	1.1.2 Land reclamation after mining disturbance	3
	1.1.3 Fire as a natural disturbance in forest ecosystems	5
1.2	Biochar	8
	1.2.1 Properties of biochars	9
	1.2.2 Impacts of biochars on soil	13
1.3	Summary	18
1.4	Objectives	19
Chapter2.	Effect of black carbon additions on aspen growth and soil microbial activity in land reclamation soils	
2.1	Introduction	
2.2	Materials and methods	26
2.3	Results	33
2.4	Discussion	41
2.5	Implications and future research	46
Chapter3.	Effect of black carbon addition and fertilization on soil microbial biomass, microbial activity and heavy metal adsorption in land reclamation soils, Alberta	
3.1	Introduction	62
3.2	Materials and methods	65
3.3	Results	73
3.4	Discussion	76
3.5	Implications and future research	81
Chapter4.	General discussion and conclusions	
4.1	Summary	99
4.2	Future research	101

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Basic properties of five reclamation soils	48
Table 2.2	Results ( <i>p</i> - values) of two- way ANOVAs examining the effects of five soil types, plant (with or without aspen) and their interactions on the total aspen biomass, above and below ground biomass of aspen, microbial biomass carbon (MBC), microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN), dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), nitrate (NO <sub>3</sub> -N), ammonium (NH <sub>4</sub> -N), available phosphorus (PO <sub>4</sub> -P), soil basal respiration (CO <sub>2</sub> ) and metabolic quotient (qCO <sub>2</sub> ) after six months of aspen growth.	49
Table 2.3	Results ( <i>p</i> - values) of two- way ANOVAs examining the effects of three BC treatment (NoBC, coke and biochar), plant (with or without aspen) and their interactions on the total aspen biomass, above and below ground biomass of aspen, microbial biomass carbon (MBC), microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN), dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), nitrate (NO <sub>3</sub> -N), ammonium (NH <sub>4</sub> -N), available phosphorus (PO <sub>4</sub> -P), soil basal respiration (CO <sub>2</sub> ) and metabolic quotient (qCO <sub>2</sub> ) in the five soils after six months of aspen growth.	50
Table 3.1	Results of Mixed Model Analyses of Variance (P-values are given) for soil available nutrients at the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site measured by PRS probes. (a) is for Mixed Model 1 including the influence of aspen, biochar, fertilization treatments (none and low level of fertilization) and their interactions; (b) is for Mixed Model 2 including only the areas that were planted with trees and examining the effect of biochar, fertilization treatments (all three levels) and their interactions; (c) is for Mixed Model 3 including the no-tree areas only and examining the effect of biochar, fertilization treatments (none and low level of fertilization) and their interactions	82

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Black carbon combustion continuum (adopted from Masiello, 2004)	21
Figure 1.2	<ul><li>(a) fungal hyphae on biochar (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009);</li><li>(b) microorganisms in pores of corn biochar (arrows) (Jin, 2010)</li></ul>	22
Figure 2.1	Total aspen biomass (mean $\pm$ standard error) after six months of growth in the five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ . Lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at $\alpha = 0.1/3 = 0.0333$ in a given soil type	51
Figure 2.2	(A) above-ground biomass and (B) below-ground biomass of aspen (mean $\pm$ standard error) after six months of growth in the five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ . Lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at $\alpha = 0.1/3 = 0.0333$ in a given soil type.	52
Figure 2.3	NO <sub>3</sub> -N (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at $\alpha$ = 0.1/10= 0.01; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at $\alpha$ =0.1/6= 0.0167 in a given soil type. '*' denotes significant differences at $\alpha$ = 0.1 between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at $\alpha$ = 0.1 between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction	53

- **Figure 2.6** Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction..... 56

- **Figure 2.7** Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction..... 57
- **Figure 2.8** Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, and WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences for a given soil type. Solution: '#' denotes significant for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction..... 58

- **Figure 2.9** Microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction..... 59
- **Figure 2.10** Soil heterotrophic respiration (CO<sub>2</sub> emission) (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 =$ 0.01; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha=0.1/6=0.0167$  in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha=0.1$  between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction..... 60

ts 61
85
nt r); 86
nt r); s 87

- Figure 3.4 pH (mean ± standard error) of the soil samples taken from the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Lower case letters 'a' and 'b' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of biochar.
- Available a) NO<sub>3</sub>-N, b) NH<sub>4</sub>-N, c) PO<sub>4</sub>-P, d)K, e) S ( $\mu$ g/10cm<sup>2</sup>) (mean Figure 3.5  $\pm$  standard error) measured by PRS probes in the Tree and Notree model in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF=biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = highfertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which in (a) show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar and in (e) show significant effects of tree, irrespective of fertilizer or biochar. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF or HF) irrespective of biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (a) and (b) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer, irrespective of 91 biochar.....
- Figure 3.6 Total a)As, b) Cd, c) Cr, d) Pb (mean ± standard error) measured by ICP (mg/kg PGM) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (c) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (b), (c) and (d) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF), irrespective of biochar.

- Figure 3.7 Available a)As, b) Cd, c) Cr, d) Pb (mean  $\pm$  standard error) measured by EDTA method (mg/kg PGM) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (c) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF or HF) irrespective of biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (b) and (d) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0
- Figure 3.8 Effects of biochar, fertilizer and their combinations on a) dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) and b)dissolved organic Nitrogen (DON) (mean ± standard error) measured by CFE method (fresh PGM samples) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of biochar (0 and BC) irrespective of tree or fertilizer. Upper case letters below the bars denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer. Lower case letters above the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC)

- Figure 3.9 Effects of biochar, fertilizer and their combinations on a) microbial biomass carbon (MBC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) and b) microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) measured by CFE method (fresh PGM samples) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF =biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of tree or fertilizer. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer. Lower case letters above the bars denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective 97 of fertilizer.....

# **Chapter 1: General introduction**

## 1.1 Disturbances

A disturbance is an incident that occurs at various temporal and spatial scales, which causes pronounced change in ecosystem properties (Pickett et al., 1985). According to the initiation, disturbances can be divided into two categories: anthropogenic disturbance- such as mining activities, forest harvesting or grazing; and natural disturbances- such as fire, wind, flood and volcano eruptions, insects and disease (Hastings 1980; Dale et al., 2001).

In Canada, fire, insects and diseases are major natural disturbances in forest ecosystems, while timber harvesting and mining activities are the two main anthropogenic disturbances (Natural Resources Canada, 2014). Disturbances alter the natural components in an ecosystem. For example, fire and deforestation remove aboveground vegetation and reduce moisture uptake by plants, which will lead to increased soil moisture content available to sprouting plants and seedlings; these will further influence soil properties and microbial communities (Certini, 2005; DeBano et al.,1998; Verma and Jayakumar, 2012).

Many anthropogenic disturbances, such as surface mining, severely influence natural ecosystems, altering the development, structure and function of forest plants and their soils (Attiwill, 1994). Surface mining removes all vegetation and surface soil, including any organic carbon in it. Moreover, there is usually substantial waste rock/overburden and tailings deposited at the soil surface after mining, which may cause serious environmental problems such as heavy metal contamination (Bradshaw, 2000).

#### **1.1.1 Surface mining as an anthropogenic disturbance**

Surface mining operations exert tremendous adverse impacts on the environment, which disrupt natural ecosystems and causes severe ecological damage to mining areas across the world (Dudka et al., 1997; Rathore et al., 1993; Visser et al., 1979). These mining activities remove all vegetation, forest floor material and surface soils, thus change the nutrient and biological conditions of soils. Reclaimed landscapes are typically constructed with lower soil horizon (often C horizon) substrates placed at the soil surface (Bradshaw, 2000). However, these lower soil horizons are poor in nutrients and have no seeds or vegetation propagules to facilitate vegetation establishment.

Soil surface mining can change the natural landscape and topographic profile, and also changes the hydrological conditions in the mining site. It alters the runoff pattern of the surface and ground water, potentially causing drought or flood, which could further aggravate soil erosion and degradation (Hortenstine et al., 1972). Plants cannot survive on the soil, so the soil loses its original ecological value and the reclamation can be extraordinarily difficult (Bradshaw, 2000).

Moreover, heavy metal contamination could be another problem and it has been documented in coal mine soils around the world (Massey et al., 1972; McLaren et al., 1973). Heavy metals, a loosely defined term, may include the transition metals, some metalloids, lanthanides, and actinides (Gaunt and Lehmann, 2002). A great deal of research has been conducted on mining derived toxicity of heavy metals on plant growth. Elements such as Pb, Zn, Cd, Cu, Mn, Fe, Rb, As, Ti, Cr, Hg and Sr are major heavy metals (or metals which at some level of concentration are toxic to plants) that were found in reclamation substrate of coal mines (Massey et al., 1972; McLaren et al., 1973; Adamo et al., 1996). The above problems are common ones generated after mining.

#### 1.1.2 Land reclamation after mining disturbance

#### Land reclamation legislature

In Alberta, the mining areas are required to be reclaimed by the mining companies under governmental policy and regulations- the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act (Government of Alberta, 2014). Regional guidelines including the Land Capability Classification System for Forest Ecosystems (LCCS) and Guidelines for Reclamation to Forest Vegetation in the Athabasca Oil Sands Region (GRFVOSR) are used in conjunction with the governmental rules (CEMA, 2007). According to these regulations, land capability of the mining site should be reclaimed to its pre- disturbance level. There is no consensus on criteria or indicators of reclamation success across the world, but several criteria are commonly accepted: (1) self- sustainable; (2) ecosystem function rebuilt; (3) recovery of biodiversity; (4) recovery of soil properties; (5) resistance to invasion of non- native/undesirable species (Ewel, 1987; Aronson et al., 1993; Hobbs and Norton, 1996). The ultimate goal of land reclamation is to reestablish stable soils along with plant and microbial abundance and activity, in order to recover the whole ecosystem which has been disturbed by mining activities. In order to achieve these, various techniques can be used in the reclamation processes.

#### Land reclamation techniques

Reclamation techniques can be categorized into physical, chemical and biological approaches. Physical reclamation is designed to improve the soil physical condition (Tejada et al., 2006). The organic layer on the surface generally holds more moisture than the mineral soil. Thus, being deprived of a surface organic layer, the mineral substrate on the mining site is directly exposed to solar radiation, causing loss of soil moisture and soil crusting (Toy et al., 2002). Adding surface coverage to the soil can provide physical protection for the soil. Mulches, crop straws, wood wastes, and forest floor material are commonly used physical amendments after mining activities (Tejada et al., 2006). They are generally incorporated into the disturbed soil to improve the soil physical properties. These physical amendments could isolate the soil from the severe environment, prevent soil from erosion, increase the water holding capacity (the amount of water that a given soil can hold), decrease the soil bulk density and improve its physical structure (Bradshaw, 2000).

Chemical reclamation is also an effective way to improve soil nutrient conditions after mining (Pichtel et al., 1992). After surface mining, most soils lack nutrients since the entire surface horizons are gone and only the lower horizons are left. The first step before reestablishing the plant communities is to recover the nutrient condition of the soil. Fertilizer, compost and sewage sludge could all be used as soil chemical amendments to provide nutrients to soil (Hortenstine et al., 1972; Pichtel et al., 1992; Seaker et al., 1998). Some of them can also be good chelating agents to mitigate the toxicity of heavy metals and other contaminants (Nowack, 2008).

As to biological remediation, revegetation and introduction of local propagules are two major ways to reclaim the soil (Bradshaw, 2000). Nowadays, inoculation of soil

microorganisms is a new, but not common, way to improve soil microbial properties, which is attracting increasing attention (Sylvia et al., 1990; Herrera et al., 1993).

The selection of reclamation method is crucial to reclamation success, while technical and economic feasibility should also be taken into consideration. Currently, an increasingly common path to reclaim mining sites in Alberta is to salvage highly fertile forest floor materials from undisturbed forests nearby to reclaim the disturbed soil (Fung and Macyk, 2000). Compared to parent geological material in the mining site, these organic substrates are high in nutrient content and low in bulk density, and may also contain propagules of local species (MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007& 2009). When applied to the mining areas, these materials may improve the soil physical, chemical and biological properties (McMillan, et al., 2007; MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007& 2009). For example, in the Athabasca oil sands region, the peat mineral soil and the upland forest floor mineral soil are two types of material being used as soil amendments to reclaim the mining disturbed soil (McMillan, et al., 2007). However, this method is expensive and also limited by the availability of the surface soil material (Bradshaw, 2000).

#### 1.1.3 Fire as a natural disturbance in forest ecosystems

Fire is an important natural disturbance in many forest and prairie ecosystems which alters their physical, chemical and biological properties and processes (Davies et al., 2010; Certini, 2005; Verma and Jayakumar, 2012). Impacts of fire on forests are often difficult to predict because of the heterogeneous community structure, different soil types, variability in weather conditions and the complexity of fire regimes (DeBano et al., 1998; DeLuca et al., 2002; García-Corona et al., 2004). Fire effects on soil, plant and animal species can be variable (Gill and Groves, 1981; Komarek et al., 1969; Lyon et al.,

1978). For example, fire can raise the pH of some acidic soils (Certini, 2005), but can also lead to soil erosion and formation of water repellent layers (Imeson et al., 1992). It can accelerate nutrient cycling in soils (DeBano et al., 1998), which may also lead to leaching losses (Grier et al., 1975).

#### Impacts of fire on soil physical properties

Forest fire generally causes the loss of organic matter at the surface of soils and to some degree in upper soil mineral layers (Nave et al., 2011). Pyrolysis of soil organic matter (SOM) begins when fire temperature reaches the range of 200 - 250°C and complete consumption begins at approximately 460°C (Giovannini et al., 1988, Garcia-Corona et al., 2004). Combustion of SOM is generally restricted to surface soil layers due to low oxygen concentration and high moisture content in deep soil horizons (Neary et al., 1999). However, ground fires can smolder in deep, moist organic layers, and can also penetrate deep in the soil profile by burning roots (Kirsten, 2010). A direct change to soil physical properties is the formation of a water repellent layer under the soil surface (Imeson et al., 1992) which can reduce the soil hydraulic conductivity substantially (Robichaud et al., 2000). Meanwhile, the combustion of vegetation and litter layer will deplete the soil organic horizons, and makes the soil prone to erosion, which is another detrimental consequence of forest fire (Sevink et al. 1989). But the loss in soil organic horizons can remove the top cover above seeds and facilitate the regeneration of some plants (Gill and Groves, 1981).

#### Impacts of fire on soil chemical properties

Fire is one of the major disturbances affecting chemical changes in forest soils. Fire volatilizes and pyrolyzes C and N in soil organic matter (SOM) of the forest floor, where 55-92% of SOM losses occur at temperatures of 380- 460°C (Giovannini et al., 1988; García- Corona et al., 2004); this changes nutrient cycling in soils. The major product after natural fires is black carbon (Certini, 2005). Forest fire leads to a substantial decline in total soil nutrient content due to volatilization, but increases the soil available forms of nutrients (Kutiel and Naveh, 1987b). The nutrients in biomass may be lost during volatilization, deposited as ash, or remain in incompletely burned biomass (Boerner, 1982). Wildfire typically consumes the forest floor, which causes losses of total Nitrogen (N) and Phosphorus (P) from the forest floor through volatilization, but the heat-induced degeneration of soil organic N and P increases mineralization of N and P (Johnson et al., 2004; Neary et al., 1999; Raison et al., 1985; White et al., 1973). Available forms of potassium (K), calcium (Ca), and magnesium (Mg) may also increase after fire (Christensen, 1976; Raison, 1979).

Forest fires can increase soil pH, due to the denaturation of organic acids in soils, because oxidation results in some base forming elements such as Ca, Mg, and K in organic soils becoming hydroxides and carbonates after fire (Kutiel and Naveh, 1987a). Simard et al. (2001) showed that the increase of soil pH could last for 14 years after fire. The amount of hydroxides and carbonates generated after fire depends on the fire intensity and the amount of SOM consumed (Certini, 2005).

#### Impacts of fire on soil biological properties

Soil microbes are vulnerable to forest fire since they are living organisms which have relatively low upper lethal temperature limits (DeBano et al., 1998). A number of studies showed that fire has a direct impact on soil microorganisms through a reduction in microbial biomass (Acea et al., 1996; Prieto-Fernández et al., 1993). The meso- and microfauna with limited mobility in the surface layer of forest soils tend to be killed during a severe fire when the temperature reaches nearly 250°C at 10 cm depth (Roberts et al., 1965).

The abundance of microorganisms will decrease immediately after fire (Prieto-Fernández et al., 1998), but some studies suggest that microbial communities can recover after several years or decades (Xiang et al. 2014; Fritze et al., 1993). Fritze (1993) conducted a long term study in a coniferous forest which found that the microbial community recovered to pre-burn levels 12 years after fire. A Mediterranean forest study also showed that bacteria and fungi were able to recolonize burned areas immediately after fire, and therefore the impacts of fire on microorganisms tend to be less persistent than for other components of the forest ecosystem (Gema et al., 2011).

The major product of natural fire is charcoal. Biochar is a surrogate for charcoal from wildfire, which now can be produced artificially and be used as a soil amendment (Sohi et al, 2010). It can benefit the soil from different perspectives through improving soil physical, chemical and biological properties.

## 1.2 Biochar

Biochar is a solid material produced by thermal degradation of organic materials in an oxygen-limited environment, which is contained within the black carbon (BC) continuum (Fig.1.1). Depending on the temperatures reached during combustion and the species identity of the source material, the product after pyrolysis may vary. BC includes the entire spectrum of pyrolyzed carbon materials, ranging from char, charcoal and

biochar, to soot and graphite (Lehmann et al. 2007). Previous studies showed that biochar is resistant to decomposition and can be used as a soil amendment (Kishimoto and Sugiura, 1985; Lehmann et al., 2009). Many different devices have been invented to produce biochar, from pyrolysis kilns, ovens, and stoves used in the household and rural industries, to rotary kilns, and rotary hearth furnaces operated in large- scale industries throughout the world (Joseph and Taylor, 2014).

#### **1.2.1 Properties of biochar**

#### Pyrolysis conditon of biochar

There are a variety of biochars because the material, pyrolysis time and temperature are different (Sohi et al, 2010). The source substrate of biochar can be wood, nut shell, crop straw, sludge or even animal waste. It has shown promise for various applications, including use in soil amelioration, environmental pollution remediation, and sewage treatment. Because of differences in substrate materials, processing techniques, and pyrolysis conditions, biochars have different pH, ash content, water holding capacity, pore structure and specific surface area; this results in further variation in their environmental effects and suitability for different applications (Huang et al., 2006). From the perspective of heating rate and reaction time, pyrolysis methods of biochar could be divided into two categories: slow pyrolysis and fast pyrolysis.

Fast pyrolysis (Sohi, 2010): The bio-material is ground into fine particles and put into fast pyrolysis equipment, and pyrolyzed instantaneously under strict control of pyrolysis rate (10- 200°C/ sec). Through the process, the bio- material will be pyrolyzed into biochar, bio-gas and bio- oil. The aim of fast pyrolysis is to acquire more bio- oil;

thus the production of biochar only accounts for 15- 25% of the bio- material (O'Laughlin et al., 2009; Mohan et al., 2006).

Slow pyrolysis (Sohi et al., 2010): Slow pyrolysis can produce more biochar (accounts for 30%- 35% of the original bio- material) than fast pyrolysis. Slow pyrolysis can be classified into three types according to pyrolysis temperature: (1) Low temperature pyrolysis: 500- 580°C; (2) Medium temperature pyrolysis: 660- 750°C; (3) High temperature pyrolysis: 900- 1100°C. Generally, the lower the pyrolysis temperature is, the higher the yield of biochar from a given amount of the original bio- material will make (Demirbas, 2004).

#### Elemental content of biochar

The major content of biochar is C, but it also contains small quantities of N, P, K, Ca, Na, Mg, A1 and Cu, etc. (Huang et al., 2006; Yuan et al., 2011). During the process of production, most H, O, N, S will be lost under high temperature pyrolysis, and the major part left in biochar is aromatic C (Huang et al., 2006). The elemental content of biochar, however, also depends on the source material, pyrolysis substrates, time and method (Chan and Xu 2009).

Normally, biochar derived from biosolids is higher in N, P, K, Ca, Na, Mg, Al and Cu than plant material derived biochar. Yuan et al. (2011) found that four leguminous straw derived biochars had more nutrients (Ca, Mg and K) than five kinds of nonleguminous plant derived biochar. On the other hand, the pyrolysis temperature also affects the elemental content in biochar with higher pyrolysis temperature causing lower total N in biochar (Yuan et al., 2011).

#### Functional groups and pH of biochar

Normally, the surface of biochar is rich in functional groups, including carboxyl, lactone base, phenolic hydroxy, hydroxyl and carbonyl group (Sohi et al., 2010; Yuan et al., 2011). The chemical properties of a biochar greatly depend on type and number of these functional groups. The polarity of these functional groups also affects the affinity for water of biochar (Yuan et al., 2011). Most types of biochar are basic, because they contain basic salts and alkaline metal elements such as K, Ca, Na and Mg, calcite and organic anions; e.g., -COO-, -O- (Yuan et al., 2011; Glaser et al., 2003). The radicals of -COO- and -O- can adsorb  $H^+$ , which will cause a higher pH of the biochar than its derived material. This is also a major reason why biochar tends to have a negatively charged surface (Yuan et al., 2011). The pH of a biochar is influenced by pyrolysis temperature. Generally, as the temperature increases, the number of acidic radicals decreases, and the number of alkaline radicals increases correspondingly (Sohi et al., 2010). But the pH will not change until the pyrolysis temperature reaches a threshold value, and this value differs in different studies. The alkaline radicals in biochar increased as the temperature increased, but there was no increase of alkali radicals above temperatures of 800°C (Sohi et al., 2010). Singh et al. (2010) found that the acidic radicals decreased drastically when the pyrolysis temperature increased from 400°C to 550°C. However, some studies suggested that below the temperature of 500°C, the number of acidic radicals in biochar increases as the temperature increases, but decreases when the temperature increases above 600°C (Hao et al., 2010). Thus, the increase or decrease in the quantity of acidic and alkali radicals probably depends on a threshold temperature, but this temperature varies according to the organic substrate used to make

biochar (Sohi et al., 2010). Furthermore, the pH of biochar is greatly influenced by characteristics of the raw materials used to produce biochar. Generally, the pH of biochar made from livestock faeces, sludge, tree leaves is higher than for biochar produced from woody materials (Sohi et al., 2010).

#### Cation exchange capacity (CEC) of biochar

Cation exchange capacity (CEC) is the maximum amount of cations a soil can hold at a given pH value. It reflects the nutrient retention ability of a soil (Donahue, 1971). The quantity of acid functional groups in biochar directly influences its CEC, because these functional groups provide the positions for anions (Cheng et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2008). Biochar normally has higher CEC when made under a low pyrolysis temperature (<400°C) than high pyrolysis temperature (>500°C). The reason, as mentioned above, could be that the quantity of acidic functional groups often decreases as pyrolysis temperature increases (Gaskin et al., 2008; Singh et al., 2010). Cheng et al. (2006) found that when biochar was oxidized under the natural condition gradually, the oxygencontaining functional groups increased, which caused a decline in the positive charges and an increase in negative charges in biochar. Consequently, the CEC increased gradually. CEC of biochar can also be influenced by its ash content. As the pyrolysis temperature increases, the ash content in biochar will also increase. Since the ash contains large amounts of alkaline metals (such as K, Na) and dissoluble salts, it will substantially influence the CEC (Fuertes et al., 2010). Singh et al. (2010) compared the biochar free of dissolvable salt with the original biochar, and the results indicated that CEC of the biochar without dissolvable salt decreased as the pyrolysis temperature increased, while CEC of the biochar with dissolvable salt increased as the pyrolysis

temperature increased. Some studies also showed that non- polar bonding was important when the biochar was produced under high temperatures of 1000°C. At this temperature, carbons become hydrophobic and do not adsorb large amounts of polar substances (Yam et al.,1990).

#### 1.2.2 Impacts of biochar on soil

#### Impacts of biochar on soil physical and chemical properties

Biochar has many potential benefits when applied to soil, depending on its properties such as: pH, ash content, bulk density, volume of pores (Okimori et al., 2003). Since the physical and chemical properties of biochar could be very different when derived from different materials, they could have distinct influences when applied to soils. Different studies indicated that different biochars or pyrolysis temperatures may lead to different pH and CEC of biochar (Cheng et al., 2008; Sohi et al., 2010; Mukherjee et al., 2011). Yuan et al. (2011) compared the liming effect of four crop straw- derived biochars (canola, rice, soybean, and pea straws). The pH of the four types of crop straws ranged between 6.27 and 6.81. But after a low temperature (350°C) and oxygen-limited pyrolysis, their pH increased to between 7.69-10.26. The biochars increased soil pH by 0.27-0.5 units at the application rate of 1%, and by 0.47-1.20 units at 2% application rate (w/w). It was also found that legume straw-derived biochar had a greater liming effect (increasing the pH) on acidic soil than did non-legume biochars. Mukherjee (2011) studied the influence of addition of three different biochar type- Laurel oak (*Quercus*) *lobata*), Loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) and Gamma grass (*Tripsacum floridanum*) - on soil. He found that pyrolysis temperature influenced pH of all three types of biochars – resulting in pH values of  $3.7\pm0.7$ ,  $6.6\pm1.4$ , and  $8.6\pm1.7$  at pyrolysis temperatures of 250,

400 and 650°C, respectively. Addition of these biochars to the soil either increased or decreased the soil pH, depending on the pH of soil that need to be amended. Generally, biochars processed under higher temperatures will be better used as a soil amendment for acid soils, while biochar made at lower temperatures would be better for alkaline soils and could also increase the soil cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Mukherjee et al., 2011).

The application of biochar to soil may change soil physical properties such as soil water retention, total pore space, decrease the soil density, and in turn influence plant growth (Downie et al., 2009). Studies have found that more water and nutrients were retained in soil as biochar content increased (Fellet et al., 2011). Biochar has a lower density compared to some mineral soils, and pores in biochar can retain air and water (Downie, et al., 2009), so it can improve the soil physical properties. A study found that biochar prevented nutrient leaching from certain kinds of soil (Steiner et al., 2007). Biochar can also affect the soil chemical property by altering the soil pH when added to soil. Some biochar has a high pH, which may have a liming effect on highly weathered and acidic soils (Luke et al., 2011).

#### Impacts of biochar on soil biological properties

Biochar, as a soil amendment, can also influence soil microbial communities. Parkhurst et al. (1967) found a positive influence of biochar on microbial growth which stimulated people to look deeper into the mechanism underlying this effect. Their results showed that biochar could provide habitat to microbes and protect them against severe environmental conditions (Figure 1.2). Bacteria could be adsorbed to the surfaces of biochar, making them less vulnerable to be leached away in soils (Pietikäinen et al., 2000) and perhaps also reducing predation since bacteria and fungi are better protected against grazers by hiding in pores of the biochar (Figure 1.2) (Ezawa et al., 2002; Thies and Rillig, 2009). Biochar may positively affect abundance and/or activity of mycorrhizal fungi (both arbuscular mycorrhizal and ectomycorrhizal fungi) (Makoto et al., 2010; Solaiman et al., 2010). But this finding needs more verification since some other studies had opposite results which showed that biochar had no effect or a negative effect on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal (AMF) abundance (Warnock et al., 2007; 2010). In a 3 year study, Jones (2012) reported that biochar increased soil respiration, bacterial and fungal growth rate in a cropland. The properties of biochar, such as specific surface area, pore volume, pore size, and functional groups of biochar may all influence the adsorption and immobilization of microbes on it. These properties can be categorized in the following paragraphs.

The surface area, pore volume and pore size of biochar can all influence its absorption capability. Generally, the ability of biochar to adsorb soil organics and heavy metals will increase as the surface area and pore volume increases. Messing et al. (1979) found that the micropore distribution on the biochar surface was a key factor to the adsorption ability, and pore size as large as 1-5 times of the microbal size had the best adsorption and accumulation ability. The adsorption of microbes onto biochar mainly depends on two forces: hydrophobic attraction or electrostatic forces. The adsorption of *E. coli* increased with increasing hydrophobicity of biochar (Rivera-Utrilla et al., 2001). The adsorption of microbes onto biochar happened on the first 1- 2d after the application of biochar and was followed by reproduction and increasing metabolism of microbes and the formation of a biological film. For microbes which are larger than the pore size of biochar, the large surface area can still provide vast habitat for them, for this reason the

adsorption ability of biochar increases as the surface area and pore volume increase (Rivera-Utrilla et al., 2001).

Oxygen-containing functional groups are also an important characteristic of biochar. The type and number of various functional groups on the biochar surface can influence its adsorption ability. The microbial adsorption and biochar type can be affected by many factors. Rivera-Utrilla et al. (2001) used the activated carbon as a carrier and conducted an experiment on *E. coli* adsorption. He found that the more acidic oxygen functional groups a biochar had, the higher hydrophilicity and adsorption ability a biochar had. Liu et al. (2002) used activated carbon fiber as a carrier to conduct an experiment. The result showed that adsorption ability of the activated carbon fiber was crucial to the early stage of immobilization of soil microbes, and the oxygen-containing functional groups on the surface of carbon fiber were important to its adsorption ability. Thus, a proper amount of oxygen-containing functional groups was important to keep the activated carbon's moisture and electronegativity (Liu et al., 2002).

#### Impacts of biochar on plant growth

Many studies have investigated how biochar influences crop growth and yield. In a 3- year study, Jones et al. (2012) found that biochar increased grass yield and significantly increased foliar N, but had no effect on the growth of maize. However, they found that biochar had little effect on the amount of dissolved organic C (DOC) and N (DON) in agricultural soil. Vaccari et al. (2011) found that application of biochar in an agricultural field increased wheat biomass up to 30%, and high levels of biochar application had no negative impact on crop yield in this 2- year study. This enhancement in crop yield can be attributed to the fact that biochar ameliorated soil acidity and

promoted soil fertility by increasing the concentration of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, and K<sup>+</sup> oxides. Chan and Xu (2009) found that biochar addition can increase crop yield by improving utilization of fertilizer efficiency. But until now, there has been limited research on how biochar influences tree growth. A field experiment conducted in Japan showed biochar stimulated Sugi tree growth by 144% - 224% (Kishimoto and Sugiura, 1985).

#### Impacts of biochar on heavy metal absorption/adsorption

Evidence has shown that biochar can decrease the bioavailability or phytotoxicity of heavy metals or other contaminants in mining polluted soil (Beesley et al., 2010; Park et al., 2011). During the past decades, research has been conducted on the capability of biochar to adsorb heavy metals or organic pollutants in waste water. Fellet et al. (2011) found that biochar influenced bioavailability and leachability of some heavy metal pollutants. Many studies conducted in China found biochar's ability to absorb heavy metals. In a biochar study conducted in 2007, Chen found that with an increased application rate of the bamboo biochar and a decreased biochar particle size (using smaller biochar particles), Cu<sup>2+</sup> adsorption rate increases. Bamboo biochar is also an ideal adsorption material of zinc, which can effectively remove the  $Zn^{2+}$  in waste water. Chen et al. (2006) studied the Pb<sup>2+</sup> adsorption capacity of biochar, and found that the adsorption effect was influenced by pH, adsorption time and temperature. At the condition of pH 4.0, adsorption time of 30 min and water temperature of 25°C, the adsorption rate of Pb<sup>2+</sup> by super- fine bamboo biochar was 99.8%. In addition, bamboo biochar also had strong adsorption or removal effect of dichlorophenol and fluorine in water solution (Xu et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2005).

#### Impacts of biochar on chemical fertilizer retention

Previous studies (Steiner et al., 2007; Fellet et al., 2011) suggested that more nutrients could be retained in soil with biochar addition. This characteristic of biochar is especially important when applied to land reclamation soils which lack top soils and have low nutrient content. Plants require large amounts of nutrients during growth. But only after the decomposition of litter and coarse woody debris begins will soils be able to supply nutrients to plants, if there is no exterior nutrient amendment being applied (Wilckea et al., 2005). Thus, the nutrients in land reclamation soils are limited in the early stage of revegetation processes and application of fertilizer is an important path to provide extra nutrients for revegetation. The application of biochar together with fertilizer could be an optimal choice to maximize the use of fertilizer because of the special characteristic of biochar - high porosity and surface to volume ratio (Chan et al. 2007). Other studies also suggested that more fertilizer-provided nutrients was retained in soil when the fertilizer was applied with biochar together (Chan et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2008).

## **1.3 Summary**

Surface mining, as an anthropogenic disturbance, has caused enormous ecological damage to ecosystems across the world during the past centuries (Johnson and Miyanishi, 2008; Mohammad et al., 2010). Because the land surface has to be removed before the mining activities, the surface soils and vegetation are severely disturbed. The post-mining land surface normally often consists of geological parent materials or subsoil poor in nutrients (Bradshaw, 2000). Thus, land reclamation is needed to recover the whole

ecosystem after these disturbances. Charcoal, a product of natural fire disturbance, has drawn increasing attention from scientists around the world due to its special function in soil property improvement and plant growth. Many studies have shown that biochar can improve soil nutrient availability, increase microbial activity, improve soil nutrient retention and adsorb/immobilize heavy metals (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009; Sohi et al., 2010). So this chapter evaluated the basic properties of biochar and its influences on the above functions. But most previous studies focused on the application of biochar in agricultural lands or waste water treatment, so its usage in land reclamation and forest ecosystem reconstruction needs more study. Therefore, we wanted to examine the effects of biochar on improving soil nutrient availability, increasing microbial activity, improving soil nutrient retention and adsorbing/ immobilizing heavy metals.

# **1.4 Objectives**

The overall objective of the research presented in this thesis was to investigate the effectiveness of black carbon (BC) addition on land reclamation soil disturbed by coal mining. It also includes the effect of fertilizer application and the combined effects of biochar and fertilization on land reclamation.

In Chapter 2, I examine the impact of BC additions on five land reclamation soils in a greenhouse study, including the effect of BC addition on aspen growth, soil nutrient availability, microbial biomass, and soil respiration in land reclamation soils.

In Chapter 3, I present the results of a field study, which included the influences of biochar and fertilizer (including two application rates) addition and their combined

effects on soil nutrient availability, adsorption of heavy metals, microbial biomass and soil respiration.

In Chapter 4, the conclusion chapter, I summarize major findings of the thesis research, and provide more information on biochar regarding its properties and its potential for greenhouse gas emission control. This gives direction for future research into the use of biochar in land reclamation after surface mining.



Figure 1.1 Black carbon combustion continuum (Masiello, 2004).



Figure 1.2 (a) Fungal hyphae on biochar (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009);

(b) Microorganisms in pores of corn biochar (arrows) (Jin, 2010).

# Chapter 2: Effect of black carbon additions on aspen growth and soil microbial activity in land reclamation soils

## **2.1 Introduction**

Mining sites across the world are being increasingly exploited in order to keep pace with the increasing human demand for energy. Surface mining, as an anthropogenic disturbance, has caused enormous ecological damage to ecosystems across the world during the past century (Adamo et al. 1996; Dudka et al., 1997; Massey et al., 1972; Rathore et al., 1993; Visser et al., 1979). Oil sands mining and bitumen extraction in Canada produces large volume of waste material such as sand, clay, coke and residual bitumen. Currently, oil sands coke and fine tailing are stockpiled on the mining areas. It has been reported that Syncrude and Suncor both produce 3 million tons of coke per year (Scott and Fedorak, 2004; Chung et al. 1996). In Canada these stockpiles should be reclaimed or incorporated into other reclamation options as part of the closure plans of oil sands operators (Nakata et al. 2011), but environmental concerns like leaching, mobility and toxicity in the long term need to be addressed. Mining companies are required to dispose the stockpile of byproducts (such as coke and fine tailings) once the mining activity is terminated (EPEA, Government of Alberta, 2014). Currently, one approach is to incorporate these byproducts into reclamation activities, so the impacts of application of coke or fine tailings on the target areas need further studies (Furimsky, 1998).

The traditional approach to reclaim mining disturbed areas in Canada is to stockpile the surface soil and upper horizon soils together before mining, then re-spread them back to the area once mining activities have terminated. Companies also use approaches that directly salvage peat from wetlands or forest floor material stripped from upland areas,
and use them as a surface amendment to reclaim the post- mining areas (Lucas et al., 1966; Fung and Macyk, 2000). The forest floor material has very low bulk density and high nutrient content, so its use can improve the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil when applied to mining sites (Fung & Mackyk, 2000; Lanoue, 2003).

In recent years, black carbon (BC) has drawn increasing attention from scientists around the world due to its special function in soil property improvement and plant growth (Sohi et al., 2010). BC is formed through the incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, bio-fuels or vegetation biomass under oxygen- limited conditions (Ramanathan, 2008). Many studies have shown that BC can improve soil nutrient availability, increase microbial activity and improve soil nutrient retention in different plant communities (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009; Sohi et al., 2010). Until now, forest floor material, peat or other organic matter have been increasingly used as amendments in mining area reclamation in Alberta and studied by researchers (Fung and Macyk, 2000; MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007& 2009; McMillan et al., 2007). Previous studies of biochar mostly focused on its application in agricultural lands or waste water treatment, so its usage in land reclamation and forest ecosystem reconstruction needs more studies.

BC includes a range of products such as char, charcoal and biochar, coke, etc (Fig.1.1)(Goldberg, 1985; Masiello, 2004). Biochar and coke were two different kinds of BC which will be used in our greenhouse experiment. Biochar is the solid product of thermal degradation of organic materials in an oxygen-limited environment; it is resistant to decomposition and is used as a soil amendment (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009). Petroleum coke (coke) is the solid carbonaceous material derived from oil refinery coker units or other cracking processes (IUPAC, 1997). BC (including biochar and coke) has

many potential benefits to soil pH, ash content, bulk density and volume of pores depending on its properties (Okimori, et al., 2003). However, there is limited research about the effects of coke on the soil nutrient availability, plant growth or soil microbes, so its impacts on the environment are still unclear. Furimsky (1998) found that coke is inert, and its stockpiles did not have significant environmental impacts under low pH.

The application of BC to soil can change soil physical properties such as soil water retention, total pore space, and soil density, in turn influencing plant growth (Downie et al., 2009). Studies have found that more water and nutrients were retained in soil as the biochar content increased, while the bioavailability of toxic metals decreased (Fellet et al., 2011). Biochar has lower density compared to a mineral soil, and pores in biochar can retain air and water (Downie, et al., 2009), and therefore improve soil physical properties. Biochar can also prevent nutrient leaching from soil because of its porous structure (Steiner, 2007). Boichar also benefits soil microorganisms when applied as an amendment to soil. Bacteria could be adsorbed to particle surfaces of biochar, which makes them less vulnerable to be leached away in soils (Pietikäinen et al., 2000) and may reduce predation since bacteria and fungi are protected from grazers by hiding in the pores of biochar (Ezawa et al., 2002; Thies and Rillig, 2009).

For the impact of black carbon on plants, Wasylyshen et al. (2002) and Nakata et al. (2007) found that coke decreased plant biomass and photosynthesis and transpiration rates, which they attributed to nutrient deficiency and metal toxicity in soil. Many studies have investigated how biochar influences the crop growth, but few have examined the relationship between biochar or coke application and tree growth on reclamation soil types. Biochar was found to stimulate Sugi tree growth by 144%- 224% in Japan

(Kishimoto and Sugiura, 1985). However, there is still limited research on how biochar influences the tree growth.

The ultimate goal of reclamation is to reestablish soil, plant and microbial communities and improve soil properties which are disturbed or degraded by mining activity. The objective of this greenhouse experiment was to examine the impact of addition of two types of Black carbons (coke and biochar) on five different land reclamation soils. I hypothesized that the biochar amendment will improve the plant growth, retain the soil available nutrient, and increase microbial biomass and soil respiration in the land reclamation soils, while coke may have some negative impacts on them.

# 2.2 Materials and methods

#### Soil types and biochar

The wheat straw biochar used in our experiment was produced by a slow pyrolysis process (400°C- 500°C for 2 hours) by Alberta Innovates- Technology Futures (AITF; Vegreville, AB, Canada). The biochar had a pH of 9.8, bulk density of 78 kg m<sup>-3</sup>, water holding capacity of 59%, total porosity of 85%, electronic conductivity of 1.2 mS cm<sup>-2</sup>, total C of 65.6%, total N of 1.1%, total sulphur of 0.1%, total hydrogen of 2.6%, total oxygen of 12.2%, volatile matter of 5.0 %, and ash content of 18.5% on an oven- dry weight basis (Waste Materials Engineering Lab., Alberta Innovates- Technology Futures, Vegreville, AB, Canada).

Five different soil or reclamation substrates were used in our experiment (Table 2.1): Peat mineral- mix (PMM), Forest floor mineral- mix (FFM), B horizon soil I with

high P content (BHP), B horizon soil II with low P content (BLP) and Whitewood parent geological material (WWP). The Peat- mineral mix (PMM) was a soil mixture of approximately 50% salvaged peat obtained from sphagnum bogs and 50% mineral soil. The Forest floor- mineral mix (FFM) is the salvaged material from upland forest including the LFH layer with underlying mineral soil mixed in a volume ratio of 1:5. The BHP and BLP were collected from the B horizon of soils near Utikuma Lake in northcentral Alberta in Athabasca oil sands, Alberta in May 2009. The Whitewood parent geological material was collected at the Transalta coal mine area, north of Lake Wabamun, about 70 kilometers west of Edmonton, Alberta in July, 2011. All of the soil materials are no longer natural soils but stockpiled substrates. Each soil was mixed evenly and sieved through a 4mm sieve to remove coarse woody debris, twigs and leaves, and then stored in buckets until use.

The properties of the PMM, FFM, BHP and BLP soils were measured for previous studies conducted by Pinno et al. (2011). For the properties of the WWP, fresh soil samples were taken by both a metal soil probe 2.5cm in diameter (for measurement of Total C (TC), Total N (TN), pH) and soil sample rings 7.5cm in diameter and 10cm in depth (for measurement of bulk density) at the end of August, 2012. For soil probe samples, about 100g soil for each treatment was collected from 0-25cm depth below the soil surface. The samples were transferred to freezer bags (Ziploc) immediately after collection, and then they were put into a cooler with ice packs inside to keep them fresh.

Soil samples from probes were air dried for two weeks at 25°C for pH and total C and N measurement. Soil pH was measured by a pH meter in the laboratory. 5g of dry sample was placed into a beaker; 10g of deionized water was added and then stirred for

10min. After the soil was suspended for 1 hour, a pH meter (Mettler-Toledo, Ohio, USA) was calibrated and used to measure soil pH (Kalra and Maynard, 1991).

For TC measurement, soil samples were ground at the frequency of 15 Hz (900 min<sup>-1</sup>) for 1 min into 5µm particles (Retsch MM400 mixer mill), and then 10mg of each sample was transferred onto a small tin capsule and wrapped up tightly. Total C content were measured by the dry combustion method (Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA, USA) (Nelson and Sommers, 1982).

The bulk density was measured on soil samples taken using soil rings. Soil samples in soil rings were transferred to aluminum cases, oven dried at 105°C for 24h and then weighed. The ring height and radius were measured by a ruler in cm to the nearest mm. The bulk density was calculated by the following formula (Cresswell and Hamilton, 2002): a) Soil volume = ring volume (cm<sup>3</sup>) =  $\pi \times$  radius<sup>2</sup>×ring height (cm); b) Bulk density (g/cm<sup>3</sup>) = Dry soil weight (g)/Soil volume (cm<sup>3</sup>). The moisture content (by mass) was calculated by the following formula: Water (%) by mass = (wet mass - dry mass/dry mass)×100.

### Experimental design

Overall, the experiment is a complete factorial design. There were three Black Carbon treatments (biochar, coke and control), five soil or reclamation substrates (PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP soils), two plant treatments (with and without aspen), and four replicates for each treatment. Biochar and coke (10% by soil volume) were added to the five soil types separately. One gallon square pots were then filled with each of the soil types, wet to saturation and incubated one month under ambient conditions (25°C during

the day and 15°C at night; 18 hour light exposure per day). Aspen seeds were initially planted in peat plugs, and all peat plugs were placed in a plastic tray under ambient conditions (25°Cduring the day and 15°C at night; 18 hour light exposure per day) and watered daily. After germination, the aspen seedlings were left in the peat plugs for five weeks of growth before they were transplanted to the soil pots. In total, 120 pots (60 pots with aspen and 60 control pots without aspen) of soil were incubated for a month, then 60 aspen seedlings in peat plugs were transplanted into four pots of each soil type×BC addition combination.

Ionic resin capsules were installed in each soil pot 10 cm under the soil surface and left to adsorb ions. Each resin capsule was 2 cm in diameter, and contained approximately 10 ml of mixed bed ionic resins (PST-2, Unibest, Bozeman, Montana, USA). All aspen pots and no-aspen pots were placed on two plastic trays separately and watered to field capacity with a two- day interval. All aspen pots were randomly rearranged on the tray to avoid any heterogeneity of the light condition. The experiment was run for six months.

### Plant biomass

After six months of growth, all 60 aspen trees were cut at the soil surface, and the stem and leaves of each tree (the aboveground biomass) were collected into clean paper bags. The roots (the belowground biomass; including the fine roots) were dug out from pots, separated from the soil, and carefully washed on a 1mm metal sieve with distilled water. All aboveground and belowground biomass were oven dried at 65°C for 24 hours and then weighed using an electronic scale.

#### Soil available nutrients analysis

Soil samples (approximately 200g) from all 120 pots were collected at the end of the experiment. 10g of fresh soil sample from each pot was weighed and oven dried at 105°C for 24 hours, and the dry samples were weighed again to calculate moisture content. Resin capsules were collected 16 weeks after the aspen was planted, put into 50ml of 2M KCl solution and shaken for 30 min. The suspension was centrifuged to remove soil particles, and the extracts were analyzed for available N (NO<sub>3</sub>-N, NH<sub>4</sub>- N) and available P (PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>) (DeLuca et al. 2002; MacKenzie and DeLuca, 2006). A SmartChem<sup>™</sup>200 Discrete Analyzer (ManDel Scientific Instrument Inc., Canada) was used to analyze NO<sub>3</sub>-N and NH<sub>4</sub>- N and PO<sub>4</sub>-P in the extracts.

### Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen

The chloroform- fumigation extraction (CFE) method was used to determine dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen (DOC and DON) and the soil microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen (MBC and MBN) in the different soil treatments (Vance et al., 1987). Two portions of fresh soils were taken from each pot after the 6 month experiment period, and 25g of each was placed into 100mL glass beakers. One sample from each pot was fumigated with CHCl<sub>3</sub> in a dessicator lined with wet filter paper to maintain humidity. Then soil samples were put inside a desicator and about 30mL ethanol-free CHCl<sub>3</sub> was added into a small beaker with a few boiling chips in it. The dessicator was evacuated after the CHCl<sub>3</sub> boiled for 2 minutes, and then placed in the dark at 25°C with CHCl<sub>3</sub> vapor for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the dessicator was evacuated again in order to refill it with CHCl<sub>3</sub> vapor and the samples were left for fumigation for another 48 hours. Both fumigated and unfumigated samples were put in to 150-200mL plastic bottles to which 50mL of 0.5M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added. The bottles were placed on a reciprocal shaker and shaken for 30 minutes. The suspension was filtered through a Buchner funnel with Q2 filter paper. The fumigated and unfumigated samples were analyzed for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) by TOC- V<sub>CSN</sub>, Total Organic Analyzer (ManDel Scientific Instrument Inc., Canada), and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) by TOC- V<sub>CSN</sub>, Total Organic Analyzer with a TNM1 accessory. Then MBC and MBN were calculated according the formulas: MBC=  $DOC_{fumigated} - DOC_{unfumigated}$ ; MBN=  $DON_{fumigated} - DON_{unfumigated}$ .

### Soil basal respiration

Soil basal respiration was measured by the alkali trap method after the 6 month experiment. Since the soil respiration in our experiment was tested by alkali trap method, only soil microbial respiration (also called soil basal respiration or heterotrophic respiration) was taken into account, there was no respiration due to plant roots. To quantify soil basal respiration, 50g of soil from each pot was placed into a mason jar along with a vial containing 20mL of 0.5M NaOH. There were two empty jars (blanks) for control with 20mL of 0.5M NaOH inside them. Jars were capped and placed in the dark at 25°C. After one week of incubation, the NaOH solution was titrated to determine how much  $CO_2$  had been trapped. For this, 1ml BaCl<sub>2</sub> and 3 drops of phenolphthalein were added into each vial and 0.5M HCl was used to titrate the NaOH solution until it turned clear (when the solution pH was 8.8). Then the amount of  $CO_2$  per vial was calculated according to the amount of 0.5M HCl added, using the formula:  $CO_2$ -C (mg/kg soil) =  $(A_1 - A_2) \times N \times E \times D$ .  $A_1$  represents titrant added to control vials (ml),  $A_2$ represents titrant added to test sample (ml), N represents concentration of HCl=0.5mol/L, E represents the coefficient, and D represents dilution factor 4 (only 5 out of 20 ml of NaOH for each sample was used).

## Metabolic quotient qCO<sub>2</sub>

Metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>) (Anderson and Domsch, 1985) refers to the ratio of soil basal respiration to microbial biomass. The qCO<sub>2</sub> was calculated with the following formula (Anderson and Domsch, 1985):  $qCO_2$ = soil microbial respiration/MBC

## Statistical analysis

We had five soil types, three Black Carbon (BC) treatments (Biochar, Coke and No- BC treatments) and two plant treatments (Tree and No-tree treatments). To examine differences among the soil types, two-way ANOVAs were done with soil types (five types), plant (Tree and No-tree) and their interaction. In this analysis, the effect of biochar was ignored. These analyses were done on NO<sub>3</sub>-N, NH<sub>4</sub>- N, PO<sub>4</sub>- P, DOC, DON, MBC, MBN, CO<sub>2</sub> and qCO<sub>2</sub>. In the ANOVAs, statistical significances were determined at  $\alpha$ = 0.1. Post-hoc comparisons of means were done if there were significant effects of soil or a soil× plant treatment interaction. If only soil effect was significant, each soil type was compared for Tree and No-tree treatments separately, and  $\alpha$  was adjusted by 0.1/10= 0.01; if only tree effect was significant, no further post- hoc test was needed; if there was a significant interaction, soil types were compared for Tree and No-tree treatments of the reatment for the and No-tree treatment for the and No-tree treatment for the tree and No-tree tree compared for tree and No-tree tree treatment for tree and No-tree tree treatment for tree and No-tree tree tree tree tree to the tree tree tree tree to the tree tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the tree tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the tree tree tree to the t

respectively, and  $\alpha$  was adjusted by 0.1/20= 0.005. For tree total biomass, aboveground and belowground biomass, one-way ANOVAs were done separately to determine if there were significant differences among the five soil types ignoring BC treatments; if there was a significant effect of soil, then in the post-hoc test,  $\alpha$  is adjusted by 0.1/10= 0.01.

Another two-way ANOVA was done for each soil type separately to determine if there were significant differences in NO<sub>3</sub>-N, NH<sub>4</sub>- N, PO<sub>4</sub>- N, DOC, DON, MBC, MBN, CO<sub>2</sub> or qCO<sub>2</sub> between tree treatments, BC treatments and their interactions; and then oneway ANOVAs for each soil type separately were done to test for effects of BC treatments for tree total biomass, aboveground and belowground biomass.

All residuals of data were examined for the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances. A log transformation was conducted before the ANOVA was run when the residual of data was not normal or homogeneous. In the ANOVAs, statistical significances were determined at  $\alpha$ = 0.1. Post-hoc comparisons of means were done if there were significant effects of BC or a BC×Plant- treatment interaction. If only BC effect was significant, the three BC treatments were compared for tree and no-tree treatments separately; if only tree effect was significant, no further post- hoc test was needed; if there was a significant interaction, BC treatments were compared for Tree and No- tree treatments and Tree and No- tree treatments were compared for each BC treatment respectively. Alpha values for the post- hoc comparisons were adjusted by the number of comparisons. If there was a tree×BC interaction, I compared Tree to No-tree for a given soil type and BC treatment, and  $\alpha$  was adjusted by 0.1/3= 0.033; when the comparisons were made among three black carbon treatments for a given soil type and Tree or No-tree treatment separately, I adjusted  $\alpha$  by 0.1/3= 0.033.

## 2.3 Results

### Tree biomass

Overall, there was a significant effect of soil type on the total aspen biomass, aboveground and belowground biomass (Table 2.2, Fig. 2.1&2.2). The total and aboveground biomass was significantly higher in the PMM soil than the rest of four soils; the FFM and BHP soils had significantly higher total and aboveground biomass than BLP and WWP soils. The PMM soil had significantly higher belowground biomass than the BLP and WWP soils; the FFM, BHP and BLP soils had significantly higher belowground biomass than the WWP soils.

There was an effect of Black Carbon (BC) on the total aspen biomass for the PMM, BLP and WWP soils, on the aboveground biomass for PMM, BLP and WWP soils, and on the belowground biomass for BLP and WWP soils (Table 2.3, Fig.2.1). Biochar did not significantly affect aspen growth, but coke sometimes reduced it. The total aspen biomass (aboveground biomass plus belowground biomass) was significantly lower in the coke treatment than in the NoBC PMM and WWP soils while the biochar treatment was intermediate; and lower in the coke treatment than the NoBC and biochar amended BLP soil. Tree aboveground biomass was significantly lower in coke treatment than in the control for PMM and WWP soils, and than in the control and biochar treatments for the BLP soil. The tree belowground biomass in the coke treatment was significantly lower than in the control for the BLP and WWP soil while the biochar treatment was intermediate.

#### Nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-N)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the NO<sub>3</sub>-N (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.3). In the pots without aspens, the NO<sub>3</sub>-N was significantly higher in the organic soils (PMM and FFM) than the mineral soils; for the mineral soils, the BLP soil had higher NO<sub>3</sub>-N than the WWP soil while the BHP soil was intermediate. In the pots with aspen, the FFM soil had higher NO<sub>3</sub>-N than the BHP, BLP and WWP soils; the PMM soil had higher NO<sub>3</sub>-N than the BHP soil.

There was a BC effect on nitrate in all soil types, a plant effect in all soils except WWP, and a BC effect and a BC× Plant interaction on nitrate in all soil types except the FFM soil (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.3). In the NoTree treatments, the NoBC treatments had higher nitrate than the coke treatment in all the soil types; the NoBC treatments had higher nitrate than the biochar treatment in the PMM, BHP, BLP and WWP soils; the biochar treatment had higher nitrate content than the coke treatment in the FFM and WWP soil. For soils with trees, the nitrate was higher in the NoBC treatments than in the coke amended PMM, FFM, BLP and WWP soils, and than in the biochar amended PMM soil; the nitrate was higher in the biochar treatment was intermediate compared to the control or coke treatments.

There was significantly higher nitrate in the NoTree treatments than the Tree treatments for FFM soil, and in NoBC PMM, BHP, BLP and WWP soils; in the biochar amended PMM soil; as well as in the coke amended BLP and WWP soils.

### Ammonium (NH4-N)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the NH<sub>4</sub>-N (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.4). In the pots with and without aspens, the order of the amount of NH<sub>4</sub>-N was higher in FFM > PMM > BHP & BLP > WWP.

There was a significant BC effect on NH<sub>4</sub>-N in the PMM and FFM soils, and a plant effect on NH<sub>4</sub>-N in the FFM soil (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.4). Unlike the trend in the nitrate graph, there were a few differences in the NH<sub>4</sub>-N among the black carbon treatments. In the NoTree treatment, the coke amendment significantly decreased the amount of NH<sub>4</sub>-N in the FFM soil while the biochar treatment was intermediate. In the soils with aspen planted, the unamended PMM soil had higher NH<sub>4</sub>-N than the coke amended soil; the unamended FFM soil had higher NH<sub>4</sub>-N than the coke and biochar amended soil. The FFM soil had higher NH<sub>4</sub>-N in the NoTree pots than in the tree pots.

### Phosphate (PO4-P)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the PO4-P (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.5). In the pots without aspens, the order of the amount of NH<sub>4</sub>-N was higher in BHP>FFM> WWP>BLP>PMM; in the pots with aspen, the order of the amount of NH<sub>4</sub>-N was higher in BHP=FFM= WWP>BLP=PMM.

There was a BC effect on PO4-P in the PMM and FFM soils, a plant effect on PO4-P in the WWP and a BC× Plant interaction in the BLP and WWP soils (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.5). In the NoTree treatments, the NoBC and coke amended PMM soils had higher phosphate than the biochar amended PMM soil; the coke amended FFM soil had lower phosphate than the NoBC and biochar amended PMM soils; the NoBC BLP soil had higher phosphate than the biochar amended BLP soil while the coke treatment was intermediate. In the WWP soil with aspen planted, the coke and biochar treatments had significantly higher phosphate than NoBC treatment. The NoBC BLP soil had higher phosphate in the NoTree than in the Tree treatment, while the biochar amended BLP and coke amended WWP had lower phosphate in the NoTree treatment than Tree treatment.

#### Dissolved organic carbon (DOC)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the DOC (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.6). In the pots without aspens, the PMM soil had higher DOC than the rest of the four soil types; the FFM, BLP and WWP soils had higher DOC than the BHP soil. In the pots with aspen, the PMM soil had higher DOC than the rest of the four soil types; the FFM soil had higher DOC than the BHP, BLP and WWP soils.

There was a BC effect on DOC in PMM soil, a plant effect on DOC in FFM and BLP soil, and effects of BC, plant and BC× Plant interaction on WWP soil (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.6). There was no significant difference among BC treatments in the NoTree treatment. However, the biochar amended PMM soil had significantly higher DOC than coke treatment in the pots with tree planted, while the NoBC was intermediate. The NoBC soil had significantly higher DOC than the coke and biochar treatments for the WWP soil with trees planted. The No-tree treatment had significantly higher DOC than the Tree treatment in the FFM soil, and in all three BC treatments (including NoBC) for BLP and WWP soils (Fig. 2.6).

#### Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the DON (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.7). In the pots without aspens, the order of the DON content was higher in the PMM > FFM > BHP

> BLP > WWP. In the pots with aspen, the order of DON content was higher in the PMM
> FFM & BHP > BLP > WWP.

There was a BC effect on DON in PMM, FFM, BHP and WWP, a plant effect on DON in PMM, FFM and BHP soils, and a BC× Plant interaction in the PMM and BHP soils (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.7). In the NoTree pots, dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) was significantly lower in the coke treatment than the NoBC and biochar amended PMM and FFM soils; and lower in both BC (coke and biochar) amended BHP and WWP soils than the NoBC soils. In the aspen pots, both coke and biochar amendments decreased the DON in the WWP soil. DON was significantly higher in NoTree than Tree treatments in the FFM soil and in the NoBC and biochar treatments for PMM soil, but significantly lower in NoTree than Tree treatments in the coke amended BHP soil (Fig. 2.7).

## Microbial biomass carbon (MBC)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the MBC (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.8). In the pots without aspens, the order of the MBC content was higher in the PMM > FFM > BHP, BLP and WWP. In the pots with aspen, the organic soils (PMM and FFM) had higher MBC than the mineral soils; the WWP soil had higher MBC than the BLP soil while the BHP soil was intermediate.

Overall, there was a plant effect on MBC in the PMM, BLP and WWP soils, and a BC× Plant interaction for the FFM and WWP soils (Table 2.3; Fig, 2.8). In the tree pots, the MBC was significantly higher in the biochar treatment than in the control in the FFM soil while the coke treatment was intermediate; the MBC was higher in the coke treatment than the biochar treatment in the WWP soil while the NoBC was intermediate. MBC was significantly higher in the No- tree treatments than the tree treatments in the

PMM and BLP soils, and higher in the No- tree treatments for the NoBC FFM and coke amended WWP than the tree treatments (Fig 2.8).

#### Microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the MBN (Table 2.2; Fig. 2.9). In the pots without aspens, the order of the MBN content was higher in the PMM> FFM> BHP> BLP> WWP. In the pots with aspen, the order of the MBN content was higher in the PMM> FFM> BHP> BLP= WWP soils.

There was a BC effect on MBN in the PMM, FFM and BHP soil, a plant effect on MBN in the PMM, BHP, BLP and WWP soil, and a BC× Plant interaction in the PMM and WWP (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.9). In the no-aspen pots, MBN was significantly higher in biochar treatment than NoBC or coke treatments in the PMM soil; coke amended BHP had significantly lower MBN than NoBC or biochar treatment. In the aspen pots, MBN was significantly higher in coke and biochar treatments than in the control for the FFM soil. MBN was higher in NoTree than in Tree treatments for the BHP and BLP soils, for all BC treatments (including NoBC) of the PMM soil, and for NoBC and biochar amended WWP soil (Fig. 2.9).

## Soil basal respiration

There was a significant effect of soil types on the soil basal respiration (CO<sub>2</sub> emission; Table 2.2; Fig. 2.10). In the pots without aspens, the order of the soil basal respiration was higher in the PMM > FFM and WWP > BHP and BLP soils. In the pots with aspen, the PMM soil had higher basal respiration than the rest of four soils; the FFM

and WWP soil had higher basal respiration than the BLP soil while BHP soil was intermediate.

There was a BC effect on soil respiration in FFM and WWP, a plant effect on soil respiration in PMM and BHP soil, and a BC× Plant interaction in the PMM and BHP soils (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.10). In the PMM soils without tree planted, NoBC treatment had significantly lower respiration rate than the biochar treatment while the coke treatment was intermediate. In the FFM soil with aspen planted, the biochar and coke amendments had lower respiration rate than NoBC soil, but for the BHP and WWP soil with aspen planted, the opposite was true, where coke and biochar amended soils had higher respiration rate than NoBC soils. The respiration rate was significantly higher in the NoTree than the Tree treatments for WWP soil and for the biochar amended PMM soil, but lower in the NoTree than the Tree treatments for the coke and biochar amended BHP soil.

### Metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>)

There was a significant effect of soil types on the metabolic quotient ( $qCO_2$ ; Table 2.2; Fig. 2.11). In the pots without aspens, the WWP soil had higher metabolic quotient than the PMM, FFM and BLP soils; the BHP and BLP soils had higher metabolic quotient than the PMM soils. In the pots with aspen, the mineral soils (BHP, BLP and WWP) had higher metabolic quotient than the organic soils (PMM and FFM).

There was a BC effect on  $qCO_2$  in the FFM soil, a plant effect on  $qCO_2$  in the PMM and BLP soils, and a BC× Plant interaction in the PMM and FFM soils (Table 2.3; Fig. 2.11). In pots with aspen planted, the  $qCO_2$  was significantly higher in coke

treatment than in biochar treatments for the PMM soil while the NoBC was intermediate; the  $qCO_2$  was higher in NoBC treatment than in the coke or biochar treatments in the FFM soil. However, in the aspen pots of the WWP, the biochar amended soil had higher  $qCO_2$  than the coke treatment while the NoBC was intermediate.

The  $qCO_2$  was higher in Tree than NoTree treatments for the BLP soil, in the NoBC PMM and FFM soils, and in the coke amended FFM soil; but lower in Tree than NoTree treatments for the NoBC and coke amended WWP soil (Fig. 2.11).

## 2.4 Discussion

Generally, organic soils (PMM and FFM) had higher aspen biomass, inorganic N, DON, microbial biomass and soil heterotrophic respiration than the mineral soils (BHP, BLP and WWP). This is not surprising since PMM and FFM soils are mixture of organic and mineral soils. Organic matter in peat and forest floor material provided carbon sources for soil microorganisms and led to higher microbial biomass and soil heterotrophic respiration in PMM and FFM soil, compared to mineral soils. During the process of SOM (soil organic matter) decomposition by soil microbes, more nitrate, ammonia, DOC and DON were generated.

When comparing the two organic soil types, PMM had higher DOC and DON, but lower amounts of ammonia, nitrate and PO<sub>4</sub>-P than FFM, and there was a higher microbial biomass and soil heterotrophic respiration in PMM than FFM. PMM used in our experiment had a marked higher amount of organic matter (95.2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> SOC) than FFM (12.2 g kg<sup>-1</sup> SOC) (Table 2.1), and a significantly higher amount of DOC and DON than FFM soil. Because the higher content of soil organic matter in PMM provided more carbon source for soil microbes than FFM, there was a higher microbial biomass and microbial respiration in the PMM than FFM (Fig. 2.8& 2.9).

Generally during the process of growth, plants need a large amount of inorganic N, P and K, especially N, so it was surprising that PMM had better plant growth than FFM soil since FFM has a higher amount of available N and P. The reason might be attributed to the benefit from soil microbes. Mycorrhizae are the most widespread mutualistic symbionts between plant and soil microorganisms (Gianinazzi-Pearson, 1996). There were higher microbial biomass in the PMM than FFM, so one possibility was that there were more mycorrhizae in the PMM and they assisted the plant in taking up nutrients which accounted for better growth in PMM despite fewer nutrients. Previous evidence suggested that mycorrhizae facilitae plant roots to absorb more nutrients in soil since mycorrhizal mycelia are much smaller in diameter than the fine roots, and thus can enlarge surface area of nutrient absorption for roots (Smith and Read, 2010). Another reason could be that there was a faster decomposition of organic matter (as indicted by the soil respiration rate, Fig. 2.10) and turnover of nutrients in the PMM than the FFM since there were more microorganisms in PMM, and a higher turnover rate of available nutrients resulted in a better plant growth in the PMM.

### Influences of BC on soil available nutrients and aspen growth

As to black carbon effects, coke and biochar showed a marked ability to absorb  $NO_3^-$ , but we did not find that black carbon absorbs a significant amount of  $NH_4^+$  in four of the five soil types, which suggested that biochar and coke primarily absorbs  $NO_3^-$  rather than  $NH_4^+$ . These results were consistent with a previous leaching experiment where Yao et al. (2012) found that the peanut hull derived biochar (pyrolyzed under

600°C) decreased the amount of nitrate and ammonium in the leachates by 34% and 14%, respectively. It proved that biochar had a higher absorption capability of nitrate than ammonium. Comparing my greenhouse study with Yao's study (2012), it is suggested that crop derived biochars have similar absorption ability of inorganic N, but the adsorption characteristic of crop derived biochar may be different from the biochars made from tree species. In the same experiment, Yao (2012) also found that Brazilian pepperwood derived biochar (pyrolyzed under 600°C) had similar absorption ability for nitrate and ammonium, where the biochar decreased the the leaching of nitrate, ammonium, and phosphate by 34.0%, 34.7%, and 20.6%, respectively, compared to the control. The reason of the difference between biochars is not clear and need further study, and it may be attributed to the differences in cellular structure of the feedstock (Yao, 2012).

The aspen pots had a significantly lower amount of nitrate than the no- aspen pots, but this trend was not obvious for the ammonia. Some evidence suggested that plant species show different preferences or abilities to absorb different forms of inorganic N (Glass, 1989; Min et al., 1998). For example, white spruce demonstrated higher rate of  $NH_4^+$  uptake than  $NO_3^-$ , while trembling aspen showed a preference for  $NO_3^-$  over  $NH_4^+$ (Kronzucker et al., 1995, 1996, 1997; Min et al., 1998). In my experiment, aspen was chosen as the experimental species, and  $NO_3^-$  was significantly lower in the pots with aspen planted than the no- aspen soil in the no- black carbon treatment, while the  $NH_4^+$ was only lower in aspen pots of the FFM soil than the no- aspen pots. This demonstrated that the major form of inorganic N uptaken by aspen is  $NO_3^-$  rather than  $NH_4^+$ , which was consistent with previous studies. Previous studies (Steiner, 2007; Fellet et al., 2011) suggested that more nutrients could be retained in soil with biochar addition and biochar can also prevent nutrient leaching loss and increase nutrient availability in the soil. Some evidence indicated that nutrients absorbed by black carbon is bio-available and could be taken up by plant and soil microorganisms in the long term (Taghizadeh-Toosi, 2012). However, our 6 month experiment did not show the benefit of biochar retained nutrients (nitrate) on plant growth. This characteristic of biochar is especially important if fertilizer will be applied with biochar together in sandy soils since sandy soils are more susceptible to leaching than silt loam or clay loam soils (Hergert 1986; Nyamangara et al., 2003), and application of biochar together with fertilizer could be one of the options to prevent nutrient losses. However, current studies have mostly been conducted on farmland to test the impact biochar or coke application into land reclamation soils, so our results may provide a preliminary evidence for the influence of black carbon addition on nutrient retention and tree growth.

Previous studies suggested that pet-coke has negative effect on plant growth. Wasylyshen (2002) found coke amendment had a negative effect on barley growth; Nakata et al. (2011) found coke decreased the plant biomass, photosynthesis and transpiration rates. In my study, the pet-coke inhibited aspen growth in the PMM, BLP and WWP soils, which is consistent with previous studies.

#### BC and soil microorganisms

Previous findings showed that biochar had positive effects on soil microorganisms. The huge surface area and numerous inside pores of biochar can provide habitat for microorganisms and protect them against grazers (Ezawa et al., 2002; Pietikäinen et al.,

2000; Thies and Rillig, 2009). Jones (2012) found that biochar addition increased the growth rate of fungi and bacteria. Our results were consistent with previous studies in that biochar increased the soil microbial biomass in PMM and microbial activitydemonstrated by increased soil respiration in WWP. Except for providing shelter for soil microorganisms, application of biochar could also benefit the microbes from some other perspectives. Since the biochar adsorbed dissolvable nutrients are bioavailable (Taghizadeh-Toosi et al., 2012), one possibility for higher microbial activity in PMM soil is that biochar could absorb nitrate and nitrate can be used by soil microbes. There were more microbes surviving and reproducing in the PMM because the nitrogen source was higher in biochar amended PMM soil than control. In the Aspen treatment, microbial biomass (MBC&MBN, Fig. 2.8&2.9) was lower in pots with trees versus without tree planted. This could be due to competition for available nitrogen between the trees and the soil microbes (Bardgett et al., 2003; Harte and kinzig, 1993; Owen and Jones, 2001). In addition, more microbes need more organic matter to support metabolism and reproduction, so there was maybe less DOC in pots without aspen planted than aspen pots because the higher microbial biomass was resulting in faster decomposition of the organic carbon.

Microbial activity, as indicated by soil heterotrophic respiration (Fig. 2.10), was higher in biochar amended PMM soil and higher in coke amended WWP compared to unammended PMM and WWP. This was consistent with the observation of Jones (2012), who found that biochar addition increased soil respiration. The soil heterotrophic respiration data were also consistent with our soil microbial biomass data, which showed that biochar has a positive effect on soil microorganisms. More soil organisms could

generate more  $CO_2$  during the process of metabolism. The qCO<sub>2</sub> data indicated that the microorganisms in the mineral soils had higher use efficiency of the organic substrate than in the organic soils (Fig. 2.11). Evidence suggested that microorganisms living under soil environmental stresses, such as an inappropriate soil pH, have higher qCO2 (microbial use efficiency of the organic substrate) (Anderson and Domsch, 1993; Insam and Haselwandter, 1989). In our case, the nutrient availability may be one of the stresses that resulted in an increase in the microbial use efficiency on the organic substrate. According to our microbial biomass data, there were more soil microbes in notree pots than tree pots, so the CO<sub>2</sub> emission and qCO<sub>2</sub> was also higher in soil without aspen planted.

# 2.5 Implications and future research

During the process of land reclamation after surface mining activities, the selection of reclamation substrate is very important. Our study suggested that PMM and FFM are two substrates which had higher plant growth, soil available N, microbial biomass and soil basal respiration than the mineral soils. To reclaim the sub-soil in the post-mining areas to a fertile soil which effectively supports re-establishment of plant communities, the PMM and FFM are two possible reclamation substrates directly transfer to the postmining areas. Biochar and Coke showed the ability to adsorb dissolvable nutrients in soil, but these nutrients did not benefit the aspen growth in this short term experiment. Coke decreased the plant growth in PMM, FFM and WWP soils, but it did not show a negative effect the soil microbes. One limitation of our experiment is that it only lasted for six month, long term effects of black carbon addition on aspen growth, soil microbial biomass and activity were still not clear. There are limited studies related to the effect of coke on plant and soil microbes and the growth of trees, so its impact requires further study. Previous studies showed that the biochar absorbed nutrients are bioavailable, so future studies could also investigate the long term effect of biochar and other forms of black carbon on the plants, soil and soil microorganisms. Since different biochar has distinct features when used as a soil amendment, future studies could also investigate the effect of different plant species derived biochar and other forms of black carbon on the reclaimed soils.

Soil type	Total carbon (%)	Total nitrogen (%)	Available phosphorus (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Bulk density g.cm <sup>-3</sup>	рН	Field moisture content %
PMM	9.52	0.38	1.26	0.65	7.1	49.2
FFM	1.22	0.04	20.64	1.41	6.6	6.4
BHP	0.21	0.02	192.03	1.33	6.9	5.1
BLP	0.22	0.01	6.77	1.43	7.4	4.5
WWP	0.25	0.05	17.15	1.29	7.8	13.8

Table 2.1 Basic properties of five reclamation soils.

Note: PMM (peat- mineral mix); FFM (forest floor- mineral mix); BHP (B horizion soil with high phosphorous content); BLP (B horizon soil with low phosphorous content); WWP (Whitewood coal mine parent geological material). The properties of the PMM, FFM, BHP and BLP soils were adopted from Pinno et al., 2011.

**Table 2.2** Results (*p*- valuess) of two- way ANOVAs examining the effects of five soil types, plant (with or without aspens) and their interactions on the total aspen biomass, above and below ground biomass of aspen, nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-N), ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>-N), available phosphorus (PO<sub>4</sub>-P), dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), microbial biomass carbon (MBC), microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN), soil basal respiration (CO<sub>2</sub>) and metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>) after six months of aspen growth.

	Soil <sup>2</sup>	Plant <sup>3</sup>	soil×Plant <sup>4</sup>
Total aspen biomass <sup>1</sup>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>		
Above ground biomass <sup>1</sup>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>		
Below ground biomass <sup>1</sup>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>		
$NO_3-N^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>0.0536</u>
$\rm NH_4-N^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>0.0045</u>	0.6508
$PO_4$ - $P^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	0.5147	0.1993
$DOC^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>
$\mathrm{DON}^1$	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	<u>0.0484</u>	<u>0.0004</u>
$MBC^1$	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	0.1302	<u>0.0659</u>
$MBN^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>
Soil basal respiration (CO <sub>2</sub> )	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	0.2979	<u>0.0157</u>
Metabolic quotient $(qCO_2)^1$	<u>&lt;0.0001</u>	0.2556	<u>0.0171</u>

Note: Bolded and underlined *P*- values denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$ .

<sup>1</sup> The data were Log transformed to meet the assumptions of ANOVA.

<sup>2</sup> 'Soil' represents five soil types used in our experiment- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP soils.

<sup>3</sup> 'Plant' denotes soil pots with and without aspen planted.

<sup>4</sup> 'Soil×Plant' means the interaction between soil and plant treatments.

**Table 2.3** Results (*p*- valuess) of two- way ANOVAs examining the effects of three BC treatment (NoBC, coke and biochar), plant (with or without aspens) and their interactions on the total aspen biomass, above and below ground biomass of aspen, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), dissolved organic nitrogen (DON), microbial biomass carbon (MBC), microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-N), ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>-N), available phosphorus (PO<sub>4</sub>-P), soil basal respiration (CO<sub>2</sub>) and metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>) in the five soils after six months of aspen growth.

	treatment	PMM	FFM	BHP	BLP	WWP
Total aspen biomass	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0631</u>	0.4566	0.2773	<u>0.0106</u>	<u>0.0238</u>
Above-ground biomass	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0191</u>	0.3099	0.2719	<u>0.0013</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0938</u>
<b>Below-ground biomass</b>	BC <sup>1</sup>	0.2513	0.5973 <sup>4</sup>	0.1891	0.0663	<u>0.0360</u>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	<b>0.0001</b> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0004</u>	<u>&lt;.0001</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u> <sup>4</sup>
NO <sub>3</sub> -N	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>0.0002</u>	<b>0.0014</b> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0015</u>	<u>0.0005</u> 4	$0.4670^4$
	<b>BC</b> ×Plant <sup>3</sup>	<u>0.0588</u>	$0.5339^4$	<u>0.0124</u>	<u>0.0602</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0063</u> <sup>4</sup>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0182</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	0.2812	0.1559	0.1855
NH <sub>4</sub> -N	Plant <sup>2</sup>	$0.2086^4$	<u>0.0026</u>	0.2192	0.3189	0.3269
	<b>BC</b> ×Plant <sup>3</sup>	$0.2219^4$	0.8135	0.9234	0.8416	0.2670
	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0024</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0335</u>	0.1773	0.1559	0.2789
PO <sub>4</sub> -P	Plant <sup>2</sup>	$0.5830^{4}$	0.2010	0.1966	0.6667	<u>0.0750</u>
	<b>BC×Plant<sup>3</sup></b>	$0.1510^4$	0.2631	0.8165	<u>0.0290</u>	<u>0.0608</u>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	0.0053	0.6476	0.8775	$0.6876^4$	<u>&lt;.0001</u>
DOC	Plant <sup>2</sup>	0.8754	<u>0.0012</u>	0.3013	<u>&lt;.0001</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>
	<b>BC</b> × <b>Plant</b> <sup>3</sup>	0.3942	0.3308	0.2079	$0.9746^4$	<u>&lt;.0001</u>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0041</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0005</u> 4	<u>0.0050</u> 4	$0.2105^4$	<u>0.0020</u> <sup>4</sup>
DON	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0025</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0611</u> 4	$0.4076^4$	$0.5490^4$
	<b>BC×Plant<sup>3</sup></b>	<u>0.0375</u> <sup>4</sup>	$0.1072^4$	<u>0.0220</u> <sup>4</sup>	$0.7028^4$	0.9306 <sup>4</sup>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	0.3564	0.4901	0.3174	0.5414	$0.7176^4$
MBC	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	0.9629	0.5119	<u>0.0651</u>	<u>0.0538</u> <sup>4</sup>
	<b>BC</b> × <b>Plant</b> <sup>3</sup>	0.1919	<u>0.0558</u>	0.6089	0.5568	<u>0.0228</u> <sup>4</sup>
	BC <sup>1</sup>	<u>0.0003</u>	<u>0.0283</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0469</u> <sup>4</sup>	0.9445	0.6761
MBN	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	0.1063 <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0008</u> <sup>4</sup>	<u>0.0007</u>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>
	BC×Plant	<u>0.0012</u>	0.2965 <sup>4</sup>	0.1894 <sup>4</sup>	0.4738	<u>0.0435</u>
Soil basel respiration	BC <sup>1</sup>	0.2656	<u>0.0013</u>	0.3119	0.9797	<u>0.0437</u>
Son basar respiration	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>0.0496</u>	0.7109	<u>0.0042</u>	0.9836	<u>0.0142</u>
(CO <sub>2</sub> )	<b>BC</b> ×Plant <sup>3</sup>	<u>0.0493</u>	0.1240	<u>0.0316</u>	0.2743	0.1270
Matabalia quationt	BC <sup>1</sup>	0.1213	<u>0.0007</u>	0.1881	0.4391	$0.1080^4$
$(\alpha C \Omega_{a})$	Plant <sup>2</sup>	<u>&lt;.0001</u>	0.4418	0.1609	<u>0.0073</u>	<u>0.0003</u> <sup>4</sup>
(4002)	<b>BC</b> × <b>Plant</b> <sup>3</sup>	<u>0.0103</u>	<u>0.0008</u>	0.9101	0.1561	<u>0.0022</u> <sup>4</sup>

Note: Bolded and underlined *P*- values denote significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$ .

<sup>1</sup> 'BC' represents black carbon addition in soils- coke, biochar or NoBC.

<sup>2</sup> 'Plant' denotes soil pots with and without aspen planted.

<sup>3</sup> 'BC $\times$  plant' means the interaction between them.

<sup>4</sup> The data were Log transformed to meet the assumptions of ANOVA.



**Figure 2.1** Total aspen biomass (mean  $\pm$  standard error) after six months of growth in the five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ . Lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/3 = 0.0333$  among BC treatments in a given soil type.



**Figure 2.2** (A) above-ground biomass and (B) below-ground biomass of aspen (mean  $\pm$  standard error) after six months of growth in the five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP and WWP. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ . Lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/3 = 0.0333$  among BC treatments in a given soil type.



**Figure 2.3** NO<sub>3</sub>-N (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types-PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No-Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.



**Figure 2.4** NH<sub>4</sub>-N (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types-PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No-Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.



**Figure 2.5** PO<sub>4</sub>-P (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment.



DOC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>)

**Figure 2.6** Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.



**Figure 2.7** Dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha = 0.1/6 = 0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.





MBC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>)






**Figure 2.10** Soil heterotrophic respiration (CO<sub>2</sub> emission) (mean ± standard error) in each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha = 0.1/10 = 0.01$ ; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments  $\alpha=0.1/6=0.0167$  among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$  between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha = 0.1$ between Aspen and No- Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.



**Figure 2.11** Metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>) (mean ± standard error) of each soil treatment of five soil types- PMM, FFM, BHP, BLP, WWP. 'Aspen' represents soil pots with aspen planted; No- Aspen is pots without aspen planted. 'NoBC' means no black carbon addition in soils; 'Coke' represents soils with petroleum-coke addition; 'BioC' represents soils with biochar addition. Upper case letters above bars denote significant differences among five soil types at  $\alpha$ = 0.1/10= 0.01; lower case letters above bars denote significant differences among three BC treatments at  $\alpha$ =0.1/6= 0.0167 among BC treatments in a given soil type. '\*' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha$ = 0.1 between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type and BC treatment when there is a significant Biochar× Plant interaction; '#' denotes significant differences at  $\alpha$ = 0.1 between Aspen and No-Aspen treatments for a given soil type, if there is no significant Biochar× Plant interaction.

# Chapter 3: Effect of biochar and fertilizer addition on soil nutrients, microbial biomass, microbial activity and heavy metal adsorption in coal mine land reclamation soils

## **3.1 Introduction**

Surface mining has a huge influence on soil and vegetation, by disrupting natural ecosystems and causing severe ecological damage in mining areas around the world (Dudka et al., 1997; Rathore et al., 1993; Visser et al., 1979). By the end of 2012, oil sands mining in the Athabasca region had disturbed 767 km<sup>2</sup> of boreal ecosystems (Alberta Energy, Government of Alberta, 2012), causing tremendous ecological damage to the air, water, soil and plants around it. Over 310 km<sup>2</sup> forest areas in Alberta has been disturbed by coal mining by the end of 2010 (Government of Alberta, 2010). The Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act (EPEA), enacted by the Alberta government, requires mining companies to reclaim disturbed soils so that they are "capable of supporting a diverse, self-sustaining, locally similar boreal forest landscape, regardless of the end land use" (Government of Alberta, 2014). The reclaimed areas are also required to support a land capability equivalent to pre-mining state (Cumulative Environmental Management Association, 2012).

During the past decades, a popular approach to reclaim surface mining sites in Canada is to salvage peat or forest floor material from wetlands and forests nearby (Fung and Macyk, 2000). These organic soil materials have very low bulk density and high nutrients, so it can improve the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil when blended into subsurface geological material (McMillan et al., 2007; MacKenzie and Naeth, 2007& 2009). However, this method is limited by the availability of material.

Biochar is a product derived from oxygen limited combustion of organic materials, and could be used as an amendment for land reclamation (Sohi et al., 2010). Many studies in different plant communities showed that biochar can improve soil nutrient availability, increase microbial activity, improve soil nutrient retention and adsorb/immobilize heavy metals (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009; Sohi et al., 2010). Recently, biochar has been used as an amendment to soil during land reclamation processes (Tejada, Garcia et al. 2006). It benefits the soil by improving the soil physical structure, reducing nutrient leaching loss, and improving plant yield (Fellet, et al. 2011; Lehmann et al., 2006; Krull et al. 2009; Beesley et al. 2011). Biochar could retain nutrients in soil and prevent nutrients from leaching loss (Steiner, 2007; Fellet et al., 2011). The reason could be attributed to biochar's large surface area and porous structure. Because biochar has high porosity and surface to volume ratio (Chan et al. 2007), its application to soil has been shown to significantly decrease the leaching loss of fertilizer- provided nutrients (Lehmann et al., 2003; Chan et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2008). However, most previous studies focused on the application of biochar to farmland to improve crop growth, so its usage in land reclamation and forest ecosystem reconstruction needs more study.

Coal mining activities have also caused severe heavy metal contaminations in mining areas across the world (Massey et al., 1972; Moffat, 1995; Schmidt, 1997). Land reclamation often focuses on the re-establishment of surface soil and plant communities; however, soil contamination is a potential problem which requires equal attention and needs to be resolved simultaneously. Numerous researchers have found that both surface and underground mining have the potential to contaminate the post- mining areas by bringing toxic heavy metals to the surface, such as lead (Pb), zinc (Zn), cadmium (Cd)

and copper (Cu). These elements can have major adverse effects on vegetation and microorganisms living in soil (Massey et al., 1972; Adamo et al., 1996). These metals in soil are generally difficult to remove and remediation can be very expensive (Moffat, 1995). Further, the residence time of heavy metals in soil can be hundreds or even thousands of years (McGrath, 1987). If mining areas are reclaimed to farmland, heavy metals in soil lead to phytoxicity and can decrease crop yields (Schmidt, 1997). The worse consequence is that the accumulation of heavy metals in crops will enter the food chain and possibly be consumed by animals and humans (Soler-Rovira et al., 1996). Thus, monitoring and removal/immobilization of heavy metals is of great importance during the reclamation process. The essence to resolve the metal pollution problem is to decrease the metal mobilization and plant available metals. Therefore, in order to reclaim mining sites, researchers have recently focused on approaches which can improve the soil properties and solve the heavy metal problem at the same time. It has been well documented that biochar can adsorb and immobilize heavy metals in contaminated soil (Debela et al, 2012; Karam et al, 2011; Uchimiya et al, 2010). Since heavy metals are toxic to plants and microbes, lower availability of heavy metals will also lead to better plant growth, higher microbial biomass and microbial activity (Jonnalagadda et al., 2006).

The objective of this study was to determine whether application of biochar and fertilizer improves soil nutrients, microbial biomass and activity, and decreases the concentration of soil bio-available heavy metals. Since coal mining activities have caused severe heavy metal contamination in mining areas across the world, I expected that surface mining led to severe heavy metals contamination (such as As, Cd, Cr, Pb, etc.) at our Whitewood (WW) experimental site, and biochar amendment will decrease the

amount of available heavy metals in WW coal mine soil. I also expected that biochar could retain fertilize provided nutrients and biochar+fertilizer amendment would confer a greater benefit on microbial activity and soil nutrient availability than applications of biochar or fertilizer alone.

### **3.2 Materials and methods**

#### Research site and Experimental Design

The research site was located at the Whitewood coal mine, which is north of Lake Wabamun, about 70 kilometers west of Edmonton, Alberta (lat 53°33' N, long 114°29'W). The coal mine was in operation from 1962 until 2010. Since the top soil was removed during the mining processes and used to reclaim an agricultural area nearby, marginal soil was left on the surface of post-mining areas, which is low in soil organic matter and nutrient content. The soil on our experimental site is C horizon soil/parent geological material of a Black- Dark Gray Chenozem or Gray Luvisol based on the Canadian system of soil classification, with the following properties: clay loam texture, pH 8.1, total C 2.4%(confirmed), total N 0.05%(confirmed), available NO<sub>3</sub>-N 10.7 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, available NH<sub>4</sub>-N 1.34 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, available P 0.58 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and available K 16 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. The soil was sieved through a 2-mm sieve and homogenized for the incubation experiment.

Six 0.5 ha areas on the mining site were selected as our experimental sites (blocks). The experiment is an incomplete factorial design replicated in blocks. In each block treatments were applied, including: a) application of biochar (two levels: biochar or no biochar); b) application of fertilizer (three levels: high, low, no fertilizer). These two

treatments were applied in a factorial design (2x3=6 treatment combinations). Aspen trees were planted in the entire block except for in one central area which included a 2x2 factorial design with: the two levels of biochar, and two of the fertilizer treatments (low fertilizer and no fertilizer); thus the 'no tree' area had four of the six treatment combinations (Fig.3.1).

The lodgepole pine- derived biochar used in our experiment was produced by a slow pyrolysis process (at 400°C- 500°C for 2 hours). The biochar had a pH of 7.3, total C of 56%, total N of 1.3% and bulk density of 232 kg m<sup>-3</sup>. Lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*)- derived biochar was applied at a rate of 1.67 ton/ha (0.54% by volume) in October, 2011. The biochar was spread manually on the plots and then mixed with the PGM by a tractor with a disk harrow to a depth of 20cm. Aspen seedlings were planted at a density of 6000 trees/ha in early May of 2012. Controlled- release fertilizer was obtained from/ was produced by Agrium Advanced Technologies Direct Solutions (Western Canada- Horticulture, Calgary, AB, Canada). The fertilizer had 19% N (ammonium nitrogen 8.09%, nitrate nitrogen 7.16%, urea nitrogen 3.75%), 6% P (P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>), 13% K (K<sub>2</sub>O), 4.7% S, 1% Mg (0.5 % water soluble Mg), 1.2% Fe (1.18 % water soluble Fe and 0.02% chelated Fe), 0.1% Mn (0.079% water soluble Mn), 0.002% Mo (0.002% water soluble Mo), 0.1% Zn (0.079% water soluble Zn) and 0.1 % Cu (0.079% water soluble Cu). At the end of June, the fertilizer (15-9-12-6; N, P, K, S) was applied at two rates (LowFert & HighFert, equivalent to 50 kg Nitrogen/ha and 100 kg N/ha, respectively); the fertilizer was spread by seed spreader manually onto soil but not disked in.

### Soil sampling and analyses

Soil samples were taken by both a metal soil probe 2.5cm in diameter (for measurement of Total C (TC), Total N (TN), pH, dissolved organic carbon and nitrogen (DOC and DON), microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen (MBC and MBN), soil respiration and heavy metals) and soil sample rings 7.5cm in diameter and 10cm in depth (for measurement of bulk density only) at the end of August, 2012. For soil probe samples, about 500g soil (for each treatment in each plot, soil was taken from ten random spots, and then was mixed into one sample) was collected from 0-25cm depth below the soil surface. The soil samples (both soil probe samples and soil core samples) were transferred to freezer bags (Ziploc) immediately after collection (each sample was put into one freezer bag), and then they were put into a cooler with ice packs inside to keep them fresh. About 200g of soil probe samples from each treatment was air dried for two weeks at 25°C for pH, total C and N measurement. Soil pH was measured by a pH meter in the laboratory. 5g of dry sample was placed into a beaker, 10g of deionized water was added and then stirred for 10min. After the soil was suspended for 1 hour, a pH meter (Mettler-Toledo, Ohio, USA) was calibrated and used to measure soil pH (Kalra and Maynard, 1991). For TC and TN measurement, soil samples were ground at the frequency of 15 Hz (900 min<sup>-1</sup>) for 1 min into 5µm particles (Retsch MM400 mixer mill), and then 10mg of each sample was transferred onto a small tin capsule and wrapped up tightly. Total C and N content were measured by the dry combustion method (Costech Analytical Technologies Inc., Valencia, CA, USA)(Nelson and Sommers, 1982). The bulk density was measured by soil samples taken using soil rings (one sample for each treatment was taken in each plot). Soil samples in soil rings were transferred to aluminum cases, oven dried at 105°C for 24h and then weighed. The ring height and radius were

measured by a ruler in cm to the nearest mm. The bulk density was calculated by the following formula (Cresswell and Hamilton, 2002): a) Soil volume = ring volume (cm<sup>3</sup>) =  $\pi \times \text{radius}^2 \times \text{ring height (cm)}$ ; b) Bulk density (g/cm<sup>3</sup>) = Dry soil weight (g)/Soil volume (cm<sup>3</sup>).

### Nutrient availability

Plant Root Simulator (PRSTM) probes use an ion exchange membrane (Western Ag Innovations, Inc. Saskatoon, Canada) to assess soil nutrient availability. The probes were used in cation/anion pairs to measure root available ions. Prior to use, ion exchange membranes were saturated with a counter-ion  $(HCO_3^-)$  for anion probes and Na<sup>+</sup> for cation probes), allowing them to absorb soil ions (Western Ag Innovations Inc., 2014). The probes measure nutrient availability to plant roots by ion exchange with soil across the probe membrane over the burial period. In late June two pairs of plant root simulator (PRS) probes (one pair include one cation and one anion PRS probe) were installed under the soil surface at each of two diagonal corners of each  $2 \times 2$  m<sup>2</sup> sub-plot; there were two sub-plots in each treatment in the tree areas and one in each treatment in the no-tree areas (described in Fig. 3.1). A soil knife was used to dig a hole in the soil to 15cm depth, and then the probe was pushed vertically into the hole until completely buried, only leaving the a piece of flagging tape above the soil surface. After burial, the soil on top of the probes was back cut with a soil knife to ensure thorough contact with the probe membrane. The probes were collected after 8 weeks of burial, cleaned thoroughly with de-ionized water, placed in ziplock bags and sent back to Western Ag Innovations, Saskatoon, Canada for analysis of available N (NO<sub>3</sub>-N, NH<sub>4</sub>- N), available P (PO<sub>4</sub>-P), K

and S. At Western Ag, the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NH<sub>4</sub>- N were measured colorimetrically by an automated flow injection analysis system using the Lachat QuikChem AE Automated Flow Injection Ion Analyzer (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1991). Available P (PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup>), K and S were measured by inductively-coupled plasma spectrometry (ICP-OES, Thermo Fisher, USA).

#### Heavy metal analyses

A common method to assess total metal concentration in soils is extraction in nitric acid or *aqua regia* (Sims and Eivazi, 1997). Although the measurement of total metal content in soil is important in estimating pollution, it does not provide any information about the metal mobility or toxicity (Levei et al., 2010). In order to measure the bioavailable heavy metal in soil, many sequential extraction methods have been developed. The Diethylene Triamine Pentaacetic Acid (DTPA) and Ethylene Diamine Tetraacetic Acid (EDTA) extraction schemes are two most effective methods to measure the available heavy metal in polluted soil. So the available metal in this experiment was measured by EDTA method (Quevauviller, et al., 1996).

The total and bio-available heavy metal levels in soil were determined by the acid extraction and EDTA method, respectively (Quevauviller, et al., 1996). To quantify the heavy metals (As, Cr, Cd and Pb), 20g of soil from each sample was oven-dried at 105°C for 24 h, then ground in a ball mill (Retsch MM400 mixer mill). To assess total heavy metals, 0.4g of each dry soil sample was put into a test tube, 10ml concentrated nitric acid was added to each test tube and microwave digested for 10 min at 1600W(185°C). Total As, Cd, Cr and Pb concentrations were measured by an inductively coupled plasma optical emissions spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Thermo Fisher, USA). To assess the available

heavy metals (As, Cr, Cd and Pb), 0.4g of each dry soil sample was mixed with the 50 ml 0.5M EDTA solution and shaken for 1 hour on a reciprocal shaker. The suspension was filtered through a Buchner funnel with Q2 filter paper. Available As, Cd, Cr and Pb concentrations were measured by an inductively coupled plasma optical emissions spectrometer (ICP-OES) (Thermo Fisher, USA).

#### Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen

The Chloroform-Fumigation Extraction (CFE) method was used to determine the soil microbial biomass (Vance et al., 1987). Two portions of soils (one sample to be fumigated & the other not fumigated) were taken from each treatment, and then 25g of each sample was placed into 100mL glass beakers. One sample was fumigated with CHCl<sub>3</sub> in a dessicator lined with wet filter paper to maintain humidity. Then soil samples were put inside a desicator and about 30mL ethanol-free CHCl<sub>3</sub> was added into a small beaker with a few boiling chips in it. The dessicator was evacuated after the CHCl<sub>3</sub> boiled for 2 minutes, and then placed in the dark at 25°C with CHCl<sub>3</sub> vapor for 48 hours. After 48 hours, the dessicator was evacuated again in order to refill CHCl<sub>3</sub> vapor in the dessicator and the samples left for fumigation for another 48 hours. Both fumigated and unfumigated samples were put in to 150-200mL plastic bottles along with 50mL of 0.5M  $K_2SO_4$ . The bottles were placed on a reciprocal shaker and shaken for 30 minutes. The suspension was filtered through a Buchner funnel with Q2 filter paper. The fumigated and unfumigated samples were analyzed for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) by TOC-V<sub>CSN</sub>, Total Organic Analyzer (ManDel Scientific Instrument Inc., Canada), and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) by TOC- V<sub>CSN</sub>, Total Organic Analyzer with a TNM1 accessory. The microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen (MBC and MBN) were calculated

according the formulas: MBC= DOC<sub>fumigated</sub> – DOC<sub>unfumigated</sub>; MBN= DON<sub>fumigated</sub> – DON<sub>unfumigated</sub>.

### Soil basal respiration and metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>)

To quantify soil basal respiration, 50g of soil from each treatment was placed into a mason jar along with a vial containing 20mL of 0.5M NaOH. There were two empty jars for control (blanks) with 20mL of 0.5M NaOH in them. Jars were capped and placed in the dark at 25° C. After one week of incubation, the NaOH solution was titrated to determine how much CO<sub>2</sub> had been trapped. For this, 1ml BaCl<sub>2</sub> and 3 drops of phenolphthalein were added into each vial and 0.5M HCl was used to titrate the NaOH solution until it turned clear (when the solution pH was 8.8). Then the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> per vial was calculated according to the amount of 0.5M HCl added, using the formula: CO<sub>2</sub>-C (mg/kg soil) = (A<sub>1</sub>-A<sub>2</sub>)×N×E×D. A<sub>1</sub> represents titrant added to blank (ml), A<sub>2</sub> represents titrant added to test sample (ml), N represents concentration of HCl=0.5mol/L, E represents the coefficient, and D represents dilution factor 4 (only 5 out of 20 ml of NaOH for each sample was used).

Metabolic quotient (qCO<sub>2</sub>) refers to the ratio of soil basal respiration to microbial biomass. The qCO<sub>2</sub> was calculated with the following formula (Anderson and Domsch, 1985):  $qCO_2$ = soil microbial respiration/MBC

#### Statistical analysis

Since there is a random effect (site or block), PROC MIXED in SAS 9.2 was used to conduct statistical analysis. Three different mixed models were used to examine the influence of the different factors involved in this trial. There was one random factorblock (site1/2/3/4/5/6), and three fixed factors- aspen (tree/notree), biochar (control/biochar) and fertilizer (control/low/high), which could be included in the models (Table 3.1). As noted above, all three fertilizer levels were included within the area in which trees were planted, whereas only control and low fertilizer were included in the area without tree planted (Fig.3.1). For available nutrients measured by PRS probes, each  $2\times 2$  small quadrat had two pairs of PRS probes. We extracted the ions on two pairs (1 for cation and the other for anion in each pair) together and we had two sub- plots within each tree plot, so we averaged the values (available nutrients measured by PRS probes) from the two sub- plots prior to statistical analysis.

We had three models for statistical analysis: Model 1 was set up to examine the influence of planting aspen, biochar, fertilizer (two levels), and their interactions. It was a split -plot design including block (random), aspen (fixed, two levels), biochar (fixed, two levels), and fertilizer (fixed, two levels). In this model, aspen was the main plot, the biochar was the split-plot, and the fertilizer was the split- split- plot. Since there was no high fertilizer in the areas without tree planted, the high fertilizer level was omitted in this model. In Model 1, if there was a significant interaction involving tree (Tree×Biochar, Tree×Fertilizer or a Tree×Biochar×Fertilizer interaction), then a post-hoc analysis was done to compare Tree vs Notree for each Fertilizer×Biochar combination separately ( $\alpha$ = 0.1/4= 0.025), otherwise Model 2 and 3 were used to explore further for any significant interactions involving biochar and fertilizer.

Model 2 was set up to examine significant effects of biochar (biochar and CK), fertilizer (0, low and high level of fertilizer) and their interactions ( $\alpha$ = 0.1). It included

only the area in which trees were planted. In this model, if only fertilizer was significant, I compared among the three fertilizer levels ( $\alpha$ = 0.1/3= 0.033) while ignoring the biochar effect; if only the biochar was significant, then no post-hoc analysis is needed; if there was a significant interaction, then I compared among the six biochar×fertilizer treatment combinations ( $\alpha$ = 0.1/15= 0.00667).

Model 3 was set up to examine the significant effects of biochar (biochar and CK), fertilizer (0 and low level of fertilizer application) and their interactions while the high level of fertilizer treatment was not included ( $\alpha$ = 0.1). It included only the area in which no tree was planted. In this model, if only the fertilizer or biochar was significant, then no post-hoc analysis is needed; if there was a significant interaction, then I compared among the four biochar×fertilizer treatment combinations ( $\alpha$ = 0.1/4= 0.025).

For these analyses, residuals were examined for the assumptions of normality and homogeneity. If they did not meet the assumptions, these data were subject to a log transformation when necessary to meet these assumptions. Following significant ( $\alpha$ = 0.1) main effects in the mixed models, post-hoc comparisons of means were conducted to further examine differences. The  $\alpha$ -value for these post-hoc comparisons was adjusted by the number of comparisons. For example, in Model1, if there were significant interaction involving tree treatment, I compared among treatments for Tree and No-tree separately with the  $\alpha$ = 0.1; if there was an interaction between Biochar and Tree treatments, I made 6 comparisons- pairwise among the treatment combinations, and I adjusted  $\alpha$  by 0.1/6= 0.01667.

### 3.3 Results

#### Total C and total N content

The ANOVA result showed that low fertilization (LF) treatments had significantly higher soil total C (TC) and total N (TN) content than unfertilized treatments in Model 1 in which only two fertilizer levels were considered (Table 3.1; Fig 3.2 & 3.3). In Model 2 (model for the tree areas), there was a significant Biochar×Fertilization interaction for TN, but post-hoc analysis did not show any significant difference among the treatments. Model 3 (model for the no-tree areas) suggested that TN was significantly higher in LF treatments than the unfertilized treatments.

#### <u>Soil pH</u>

The ANOVA result showed significant effects of low fertilizer on soil pH in Model 1 in which only two fertilizer levels were considered (Table 3.1; Fig 3.4). The Low Fertilizer treatment had significantly lower soil pH than the no fertilization treatment (Model 2, Table 3.1). Model 3 showed the same trend that the Low Fertilizer treatment had significantly lower soil pH than the no fertilization treatment in the areas without tree planted (p=0.02, Fig 3.4).

### Available nutrients

There was a significant effect of LF treatment and a significant three way interaction on NO<sub>3</sub>-N in Model 1 (Model 1, Table 3.1, Fig 3.5a). Model 2 suggested that there was a significant effect of fertilization and a significant biochar×fertilizer interaction on NO<sub>3</sub>-N (Model 2, Table 3.1). The post-hoc test suggested that the soil with HF treatment (HF and BC+HF) had significantly higher NO<sub>3</sub>-N than the unfertilized soil (CK and BC) in the tree areas. Model 3 showed that the soil with LF treatment (LF and BC+LF) had significantly higher NO<sub>3</sub>-N than the unfertilized soil (CK and BC) in the areas without tree planted (Model 3, Table 3.1).

There was a significant effect of Tree× Fertilization interaction on the NH<sub>4</sub>-N in Model 1(Table 3.1, Fig.3.5b), but post-hoc test did not show any significant effect. There were no significant effects on the available P or K in any of the models. For available S, the ANOVA results in Model 1 (Table 3.1) showed the available S in tree areas was significantly higher than in the areas without trees planted (for the CK, BC, BC+LF and LF treatments).

#### Total and available heavy metals

There were significant effects of fertilization on total and available Cr content, Tree×Biochar interaction on total Cr content, and Tree×Fertilization interaction on the total and available Cd content in Model 1(Table 3.1; Fig 3.6 &3.7). In Model 2, the only significant effect was that the high level of fertilization increased the available Cr content (Table 3.1). Model 3 (areas without trees) suggested that the LF treatment significantly increased the total Cd, Cr and Pb, and available Cd and Pb irrespective of biochar treatment (Table 3.1).

### DOC, DON, MBC and MBN

Model 1suggested that DOC was significantly higher in biochar amended treatments than in the un-amended treatments (P=0.02) (Table 3.1, Fig.3.8). Model 2 showed that the DOC and DON were significantly higher in the BC amended soil than in the un-amended soil in areas where trees were planted (Table 3.1, Fig.3.8). In areas without aspen planted (Model 3), the DOC was also significantly higher in the BC amended soil than in the CK (Table 3.1, Fig.3.8). For the microbial biomass, all models suggested that MBC and MBN were significantly higher in biochar amended treatments than in the un-amended treatments for both tree and No-tree areas (Table 3.1, Fig.3.9).

### Soil heterotrophic respiration and qCO2

Model 1 suggested that there were significant effects of Tree×Biochar interaction on soil heterotrophic respiration (CO<sub>2</sub> emission) and metabolic quotient (Table 3.1; Fig 3.10). The biochar application significantly increased the soil heterotrophic respiration in the areas without tree planted (Model 3, Table 3.1). However, Model 2 and 3 showed no significant effect of fertilizer or biochar on the metabolic quotient.

# **3.4 Discussion**

### Effect of biochar and fertilizer application on total C, total N content and soil pH

Our experiment suggested that fertilization significantly increased the TC. This could be due to fertilization induced tree growth, which could lead to more fine roots and root exudates in the soil of the fertilized areas increasing the TC content. Fertilization increased TN and decreased the soil pH in the areas without aspen planted, but not in the aspen areas. The influence of fertilization on soil pH could be explained by the fact that the fertilizer applied on our research site contained a large proportion of NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> (15.25% wt), which lowers the soil pH when applied as a soil amendment. The application of biochar (biochar has a pH of 8.4) had the potential to increase the soil pH, but we found no such effect. Since the application rate of biochar on our research site was not high

(1.67 tons/ha), it seemed that the soil had the ability to buffer its pH against any changes due to the biochar application.

In contrast to our hypothesis, biochar application did not increase the soil total C (TC) content. The reason was unclear and there are several possibilities. There were visible coal fragments and residues left on the soil surface after mining and these would have been part of the carbon affecting TC in the soil samples. Biochar was applied to the experimental sites in October, 2011, but soil samples were taken in August, 2012. The wind and water erosion was severe on the research field since there was little plant or organic layer coverage, so another reason could be that soil erosion had removed part of the biochar we applied.

#### Effect of biochar and fertilizer application on available nutrients

After mining activities, surface horizons are removed leaving the parent geological material on the land surface which leaves the soil in poor nutrient condition. So improving the soil nutrients is the priority before rebuilding the plant and microbial communities. Fertilizer is a commonly used amendment to provide soil nutrients (Pichtel et al., 1992). Our results also suggested that fertilization significantly increased the nitrate and ammonia content in soil. However, the results did not show an increased available P, K or S in post- mining site after fertilization. The reason may be that the fertilizer we used was slow release granules, but the PRS probes were collected 8 weeks after installation, so a large portion of fertilizer might not have been fully released into the soil. Another possibility may be that the P and K are less mobile than N in soil, so we did not find any significant difference in P and K among the treatments.

Previous studies (Steiner, 2007; Fellet et al., 2011) have shown that biochar can help retain nutrients in soil and prevent nutrient leaching losses. Because biochar has a large surface area, it might retain nutrients and prevent leaching loss after the rainfall. Lehmann et al. (2003) found that amendment of biochar significantly decreased the leaching loss of fertilizer provided N. Other studies also suggested that application of biochar together with an N fertilizer will could retain nutrients in biochar particles and prevent losses (Chan et al., 2007; Steiner et al., 2008). This can be attributed to biochar's high porosity and surface to volume ratio (Chan et al. 2007). Our results supported this in the tree areas where soil with the BC+ HF combination had higher nitrate than CK or BC, while HF only was not significantly higher than the CK or BC treatment. In the areas without trees planted, the BC+LF combination had higher nitrate than the BC only or the CK, while LF treatment did not have higher nitrate than the CK or BC treatments. These results suggest that biochar is capable of helping retain fertilizer- provided nutrients in soil.

### Effect of biochar and fertilizer application on total and available heavy metals

It is well reported that application of biochar as a soil amendment can reduce heavy metals in soil (Beesley et al., 2011; Gomez-Eyles et al. 2011;). Gomez-Eyles et al. (2011) found biochar can significantly reduce the available Cd and Cu after 1-2 months of biochar application. In a soil column study, Beesley et al. (2011) observed that biochar can significantly reduce the concentration of Cd and Zn in leachates. Biochar with high oxygen functional groups is effective for immobilizing heavy metals, especially Pb<sup>2+</sup>, Cu<sup>2+</sup> in acidic and low CEC soils (Wulfsberg, 2000). Other researchers also found functional groups in Biochar can also help to immobilize the heavy metals in

contaminated soil. For example, Uchimiya et al. (2012) found that oxidized biochar that is richer in carboxyl functional groups has significantly greater effects on Pb, Cu, and Zn immobilization compared to untreated biochar. This can be attributed to the fact that cations such as Pb and Cd can combine with the carboxyl functional groups and form complexes on the biochar surface (Utrilla, et al., 2002). These studies also suggested that oxidized biochar will be more recalcitrant and rich in carboxyl functional groups which can persist longer and have a long-term effect on heavy metal absorption. However, according to the CCME (Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment) Soil and Water Guidelines (Eckford and Gao, 2009), the concentration of the heavy metals I measured- As, Cd, Cr and Pb did not exceed the threshold values for agricultural or parks/residential use; nor did my study show any evidence that biochar can absorb or immobilize total or available heavy metals in soil. For the effect of biochar and fertilizer combination, Karami et al. (2011) found that compost and biochar had a joint effect on reducing Pb concentrations in pore water and plant uptake. But in our study, we did not find any evidence that biochar had combined effect with fertilizer on heavy metal absorption or immobilization.

We found that fertilization increased the total and available Cd, Cr and Pb in the soil without trees planted; in the tree areas, there was only an increase of available Cr in the HF treatment. The reason could be that the fertilizer contained a large proportion of  $NH_4NO_3$ , and the  $NO_3^-$  could increase the solubility of heavy metals in the soil (Kevresan et al., 1998). There was less  $NO_3^-$  in the tree areas because of uptake by aspen, so the increase of the available heavy metals in the tree areas was not evident.

### Effect of biochar and fertilizer application on DOC, DON, MBC and MBN

Our result suggested that biochar significantly increased the soil DOC, DON, MBC and MBN. This was consistent with previous studies which also suggested that biochar was able to retain nutrients in soil and increase the available nutrients in soil (Steiner, 2007; Fellet et al., 2011). Laird et al. (2010) also found that biochar at an application rate of 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> decreased total N leaching by 11%. Higher DOC and DON provided more nutrients to soil microbes, so in my experiment, the soil microbial biomass data was in accordance with the soil dissolved nutrient data. Steinbeiss et al. (2009) reported that biochar can promote fungi and Gram-negative bacteria in a silty soil. So our result was also consistent with previous findings where application of biochar increased the soil microbial biomass, which was indicated by the increased MBC and MBN.

### Effect of biochar and fertilizer application on soil heterotrophic respiration

Previous studies suggested that biochar had many positive effects on soil microorganisms, because the huge surface area and porous structure of biochar provide proper shelter for soil microorganisms, which also makes them less vulnerable to be leached away in soils (Pietikäinen et al., 2000; Fellet et al., 2011). Improved living conditions can increase the soil microbial population and more soil microorganisms can generate more CO<sub>2</sub>. Jones et al. (2012) found that biochar addition can increase soil respiration. Our study indicated that the soil microbial respiration was higher after biochar amendment compared with the control soil taken in the areas without trees planted. This was also consistent with our soil microbial biomass results, which suggested that biochar have a positive effect on soil microorganisms, and more soil microbes generated more CO<sub>2</sub>. But in the soil taken from the areas with tree planted, we did not observe any significant effect of biochar on CO<sub>2</sub> emission. The soil heterotrophic

respiration also tended to be higher in the areas without trees planted than in the tree areas (Fig. 3.9a), so the increase of the microbial respiration was not significant in the tree areas. The reason was not clear. One possibility could be that the tree and microbes were competing for N and other nutrients in the soil. So there were less microbes in the soil samples due to lack of nutrients, and less microbes generated less CO<sub>2</sub>.

# 3.5 Implications and future research

Land reclamation previously focused on the re-establishment of plant communities and the soil recovery, and paid little attention to the heavy metal immobilization. Even though in our study the concentration of heavy metals in the study area did not exceed the standard in the CCME Soil and Water Guidelines (Eckford and Gao, 2009), the heavy metal is a vital problem in post-mining areas around the world. Reclamation methods which are applied to minimize level of contamination after mining activities are crucial to achieve our goal of land reclamation, and the impact of biochar on decreasing the toxicity of heavy metal and other contaminants left in soils after mining need more studies in the future.

After mining at Whitewood, the subsoil exposed to the surface is a sandy loam, but previous research found that biochar can benefit the sandy soil more than clay soil from preventing nutrient's leaching. Thus, future studies could investigate the effect of biochar on nutrient retention in sandy soils. Further, the wind erosion on the research site is severe due to lack of plant cover, so part of the biochar and fertilizer we applied was blown away. Thus, in the future, the establishment of plant communities should be prior to application of biochar and fertilizer to fix the soil.

**Table 3.1** Results of Mixed Model Analyses of Variance (P-values are given) for soil available nutrients at the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site measured by PRS probes. (a) is for Mixed Model 1 including the influence of aspen, biochar, fertilization treatments (none and low level of fertilization) and their interactions; (b) is for Mixed Model 2 including only the areas that were planted with trees and examining the effect of biochar, fertilization treatments (all three levels) and their interactions; (c) is for Mixed Model 3 including the no-tree areas only and examining the effect of biochar, fertilization treatments (none and low level of fertilization) and their interactions; (c) is for Mixed Model 3 including the no-tree areas only and examining the effect of biochar, fertilization treatments (none and low level of fertilization) and their interactions.

	TC	TN	pН	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	NH4-N	N P	K	S
$T^1$	0.37	7 0.42	0.40	0.96	0.31	0.62	0.11	0.08
$B^2$	0.29	0.32	0.90	0.94	0.64	0.65	0.67	0.92
$T^1 \times B^2$	0.15	5 0.12	0.59	0.20	0.36	0.66	0.23	0.49
$F^3$	<u>0.07</u>	<u>0.07</u>	<u>0.03</u>	<u>0.02</u>	0.68	0.63	0.51	0.35
$T^1 \times F^3$	0.81	l 0.97	0.28	0.85	<u>0.06</u>	0.78	0.55	0.67
$B \times F^3$	0.32	2 0.85	0.17	0.95	0.59	0.12	0.67	0.74
$T^1 \times B^2 \times F^3$	0.46	6 0.18	0.47	<u>0.05</u>	0.67	0.63	0.99	0.87
	As(Ttl)	Cd(Ttl)	Cr(Ttl)	Pb(Ttl)	As(Avl)	Cd(Avl)	Cr(Avl)	Pb(Avl)
$T^1$	0.59	0.40	0.46	0.44	0.13	0.39	0.71	0.28
$B^2$	0.77	0.39	0.82	0.82	0.57	0.31	0.88	0.98
$T^1 \times B^2$	0.60	0.70	<u>0.05</u>	0.67	0.81	0.96	0.68	0.95
$F^{3}$	0.24	0.27	<u>0.04</u>	0.31	0.79	0.17	<u>0.08</u>	0.35
$T^1 \times F$	0.72	<u>0.04</u>	0.30	0.13	0.56	<u>0.08</u>	0.48	0.27
$\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{F}^3$	0.76	0.49	0.73	0.87	0.85	0.94	0.97	0.80
$T^1 \times B^2 \times F^3$	0.44	0.26	0.90	0.52	0.38	0.13	0.18	0.52
	DOC	DO	N <sup>4</sup>	MBC	MBN	CO	$D_2$	qCO <sub>2</sub>
$T^1$	0.63	0.75	599	0.63	0.40	0.6	50	0.79
$B^2$	<u>0.02</u>	0.11	145	<u>0.03</u>	<u>0.03</u>	0.1	4	0.67
$T^1 \times B^2$	0.91	0.86	644	0.91	0.78	<u>0.</u> (	)4	<u>0.10</u>

0.36

0.54

0.74

0.31

0.4725

0.2589

0.8588

0.3924

0.90

0.61

0.96

0.11

0.42

0.49

0.96

0.73

(a)

 $F^3$ 

 $T^1 \times F^3$ 

 $B^2 \times F^3$ 

 $T^1 \times B^2 \times F^3$ 

0.65

0.88

0.89

0.67

0.26

0.31

0.76

0.31

(b)		

	TC	TN	pН	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	NH <sub>4</sub> -N	Р	Κ	S
$B^2$	0.23	0.41	0.75	1.00	0.86	0.69	0.31	0.75
$F^3$	0.39	0.41	0.58	<u>0.07</u>	0.66	0.68	0.58	0.48
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.19	<u>0.10</u>	0.41	<u>0.08</u>	0.82	0.19	0.76	0.85
	As(Ttl)	Cd(Ttl)	Cr(Ttl)	Pb(Ttl)	As(Avl)	Cd(Avl)	Cr(Avl)	Pb(Avl)
$B^2$	0.48	0.90	0.14	0.95	0.69	0.57	0.87	0.97
$F^3$	0.30	0.79	0.36	0.93	0.82	0.88	<u>0.03</u>	0.99
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.58	0.50	0.88	0.87	0.81	0.61	0.55	0.97
	DO	С	DON <sup>4</sup>	MBC	MBN	1 (	$CO_2$	qCO <sub>2</sub>
$B^2$	0.0	2	0.02	0.07	0.35	0	.92	0.31
F <sup>3</sup>	0.9	1	0.21	0.73	0.59	0	.41	0.52
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.7	2	0.25	0.69	0.57	0	.72	0.82

1	>
1	<u>۵۱</u>
•	$\mathbf{v}_{I}$
· ·	

	TC	C TN	pН	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	NH4-N	Р	K	S
$B^2$	0.7	9 0.52	0.75	0.35	0.29	1.00	0.59	0.57
$F^3$	0.1	6 <u>0.05</u>	<u>0.02</u>	<u>0.05</u>	<u>0.08</u>	0.89	0.96	0.71
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.2	3 0.20	0.11	0.13	0.93	0.48	0.78	0.91
	As(Ttl)	Cd(Ttl)	Cr(Ttl)	Pb(Ttl)	As(Avl)	Cd(Avl)	Cr(Avl)	Pb(Avl)
$B^2$	0.50	0.23	0.24	0.55	0.57	0.31	0.75	0.92
$F^3$	0.20	<u>0.01</u>	<u>0.05</u>	<u>0.03</u>	0.15	<u>&lt;0.01</u>	0.16	<u>0.04</u>
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.70	0.66	0.76	0.67	0.25	0.14	0.46	0.33
	DO	C D	ON	MBC	MBN		$CO_2$	qCO <sub>2</sub>
$B^2$	<u>0.0</u> ′	<u>7</u> (	0.36	<u>0.02</u>	<u>0.08</u>	<u>0</u>	.02	0.16
$F^3$	0.8	1 (	).79	0.72	0.78	0	.94	0.91
$B^2 \times F^3$	0.82	2 (	0.50	0.42	0.25	0	.78	0.43

Note: Significant P values are bolded. \* indicated the data were not normally distributed and were Log transformed.
<sup>1</sup> 'T' represents aspen treatment (plot with or without aspen planted).
<sup>2</sup> 'B' represents biochar treatment.
<sup>3</sup> 'F' represents fertilizer treatment.
<sup>4</sup> Log transformed data.





<sup>1</sup> The aspen plots were areas within which aspen were being monitored as part of another study.



**Figure 3.2** Total soil carbon (%) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in the soil samples taken from the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree and biochar.



**Figure 3.3** Total soil nitrogen (%) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) in the soil samples taken from the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Lower case letters 'a' and 'b' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of biochar.



**Figure 3.4** pH (mean  $\pm$  standard error) of the soil samples taken from the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Lower case letters 'a' and 'b' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of biochar.



a)









**Figure 3.5** Available a) NO<sub>3</sub>-N, b) NH<sub>4</sub>-N, c) PO<sub>4</sub>-P, d)K, e) S ( $\mu$ g/10cm<sup>2</sup>) (mean ± standard error) measured by PRS probes in the Tree and Notree model in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which in (a) show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF or HF) irrespective of biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (a) and (b) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer, irrespective of biochar.



b)



a)



**Figure 3.6** Total a)As, b) Cd, c) Cr, d) Pb (mean  $\pm$  standard error) measured by ICP (mg/kg PGM) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (c) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (b), (c) and (d) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF), irrespective of biochar.

d)



b)



a)



Figure 3.7 Available a)As, b) Cd, c) Cr, d) Pb (mean  $\pm$  standard error) measured by EDTA method (mg/kg PGM) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF = biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (c) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF) irrespective of tree or biochar. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF or HF) irrespective of biochar. Lower case letters above the bars in (b) and (d) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of fertilizer (0 versus LF), irrespective of biochar.


Figure 3.8 Effects of biochar, fertilizer and their combinations on a) dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) and b)dissolved organic Nitrogen (DON) (mean  $\pm$ standard error) measured by CFE method (fresh PGM samples) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of biochar (0 and BC) irrespective of tree or fertilizer. Upper case letters below the bars denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer. Lower case letters above the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer.



**Figure 3.9** Effects of biochar, fertilizer and their combinations on a) microbial biomass carbon (MBC) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) and b) microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN) (mean  $\pm$  standard error) measured by CFE method (fresh PGM samples) in the Whitewood coal mine reclamation site for the different experimental treatments: planting of aspen trees (tree vs no tree), biochar addition, fertilization. CK = control (no biochar, no fertilizer); BC = biochar only, BC+HF = biochar and high fertilizer, BC+LF= biochar and low fertilizer, LF = low fertilizer alone, HF = high fertilizer alone. Upper case letters 'X' and 'Y' above bars denote ANOVA results from Model 1, which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of tree or fertilizer. Upper case letters below the bars in (a) denote ANOVA results from Model 2 (tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer. Lower case letters above the bars denote ANOVA results from Model 3(no-tree areas), which show significant effects of biochar (0 versus BC) irrespective of fertilizer.





b)



# **Chapter 4: General discussion and conclusions**

## 4.1 Summary

Surface mining, as an anthropogenic disturbance, has caused enormous damage to ecosystems across the world during the past centuries (Dudka et al., 1997; Rathore et al., 1993; Visser et al., 1979). Because the land surface has to be removed before the mining activities, surface soils and vegetation are influenced substantially. The post- mining land surface normally only consists of parent geological materials or subsoil poor in nutrients (Bradshaw, 2000). Another problem is heavy metal contamination in post- mining areas (Massey et al., 1972; Moffat, 1995; Schmidt, 1997).

So land reclamation is needed to recover the whole ecosystem after these disturbances. Biochar, a man- made surrogate for natural fire- generated charcoal, has drawn increasing attention from scientists around the world due to its special function in soil property improvement and plant growth. Many studies showed that biochar can improve soil nutrient availability, increase microbial activity, improve soil nutrient retention and adsorb/ immobilize heavy metals in different plant communities (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009; Sohi et al., 2010). But most previous studies focused on the application of biochar in agricultural lands or waste water treatment, so its use in land reclamation and forest ecosystem reconstruction needs more study. Overall, my thesis provided insights into whether biochar can improve soil nutrient availability, increase microbial activity, improve soil activity, improve soil activity, improve soil nutrient availability.

99

### Greenhouse experiment

I expected biochar amended soils to have higher tree biomass, soil nutrient availability, microbial biomass and soil respiration compared to the controls; while coke may have negative effects on these factors. The results showed that biochar decreased the soil available nutrients, especially nitrogen in the land reclamation soil. The reason could be that the nutrients were absorbed by biochar and coke. This implies that the biochar application may benefit the soil in the long term. After biochar amendment, there was no significant improvement of aspen growth, microbial biomass or metabolic quotient in the land reclamation soils, while coke may have a negative impact on the aspen growth in PMM, BLP and WWP soils.

### Field experiment

It has been well documented that biochar can adsorb/ absorb and immobilize heavy metals in contaminated soil (Debela et al, 2012; Karam et al, 2011; Uchimiya et al, 2010). Therefore, I expected the amount of heavy metals (As, Cd, Cr, Pb) in WW coal mine soil to be lower in the biochar amended soil than the original soil. But our result did not show a significant effect of biochar on heavy metal adsorption.

Since biochar has the ability to retain nutrients, it is able to protect nutrients applied as fertilizer from leaching. Thus, we expected that application of biochar and fertilizer together would benefit plant growth, microbial activity and soil nutrient availability at the Whitewood site. The field work results showed that biochar increased the DOC, DON, MBC, MBN and soil heterotrophic respiration. This was consistent with previous findings which suggested that biochar can retain soil dissolvable nutrients and increase

100

soil microbial biomass and basal respiration (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009; Sohi et al., 2010). The biochar did not change the soil pH significantly.

## **4.2 Future Research**

#### Application of biochar on land reclamation

Prior to surface mining, top horizon soils (including plant propaguale and microbes in soil) have to be removed. The post- mining land surface normally consists of subsoil poor in nutrients and soil microbes. Thus, re-establishment of the soil profile and soil microbial community is of great importance. In our fied study, the biochar application significantly increased the dissoveld organic carbon and nitrogen in soil, which could increase the soil dissolvable nutrients and facilate the reclamation process when it is applied as an amendment. The microbial biomass in the biochar amended soil also increased compared to the unamended soil. So biochar can also help the post-mining soil to recover its microbial property. In our experiment, biochar also had the ability to retain a large amount of dissolvable nutrients, such as nitrate. Previous studies suggested that the biochar retained nutrients is bioavailable, but in our short term experiment the biochar did not assist the aspen growth.

Thus, in future land reclamation processes, biochar could be an optimal amendment to retain soil nutrients and improve soil microbial property. But long term effect of biochar retained nutrients on plant growth may need further studies.

#### Impacts of different biochar

There are a variety of biochars because the material, pyrolysis time and temperature are different (Sohi et al, 2010). The source substrate of biochar can be wood, nut shell, crop straw, sludge or even animal waste. Since the physical and chemical properties of biochar could be very different when derived from different materials, they could have distinct influences when applied to soils.

Because of differences in substrate materials, processing techniques, and pyrolysis conditions, biochars have different pH, ash content, water holding capacity, pore structure, and specific surface area; these, in turn, result in them having different environmental effects and application fields (Huang et al., 2006).

Biochars processed under higher temperatures will be better used as a soil amendment for acid soils, while biochar made at lower temperatures may increase the soil cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Mukherjee et al., 2011). Biochars pyrolyzed at higher temperatures have higher pH, and thus could be better used in acid soils as an amendment, while biochar made at lower temperatures will have a higher cation exchange capacity (CEC) (Mukherjee, 2011). Different studies indicated that different biochar or pyrolysis temperatures may lead to different pH and CEC of biochar (Cheng et al., 2008; Sohi et al., 2010; Mukherjee et al., 2011). However, the influences of various biochar types, pyrolysis temperature and the application rate on different soils or research sites are hard to predict.

So future studies can be conducted to determine whether different biochar additions (wood, nut shell, crop straw or sludge- derived biochar), created at different pyrolysis temperature (such as 300°C and 800°C), and applied at different rates (for example 5%, 10%, 20%), will benefit the reclaimed soil differently through improving

102

soil nutrient availability, increasing microbial activity, improving plant growth and adsorbing/ immobilizing heavy metals.

#### Oxygen-containing functional group (OCFG) on biochar

Previous studies showed that Oxygen-containing functional groups (OCFG) are very important to the absorption ability of biochar. The type and number of various functional groups on the biochar surface can influence its adsorption ability (Rivera-Utrilla et al., 2001; Liu et al., 2002). In previous studies, different biochars or the same biochar produced under different conditions had very different amendment effects on soil (Huang et al., 2006; Sohi et al, 2010). In order to understand how biochar influences the soil (such as nutrient availability, microbial activity and greenhouse gas emission), we need to study the chemical composition and function groups on the biochar surface and the influence of this on its usefulness as a soil amendment.

#### Impacts of biochar on N2O emission

N<sub>2</sub>O is a trace gas in the atmosphere, but its impact on the global atmospheric environment cannot be neglected because it can deplete the ozone layer (Forster et al., 2007; Ravishankara et al., 2009). N<sub>2</sub>O can absorb infrared radiation, and its global warming potential is 298 and 11.9 times as much as CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, respectively (Bridle, 2004). Many studies have been conducted on the influence of biochar addition on soil N<sub>2</sub>O emission, and most of them showed that biochar reduced soil N<sub>2</sub>O emission. (Rondon et al., 2006; Toosi et al., 2011) So, future studies can be conducted to reveal the effect of biochar application on N<sub>2</sub>O emission.

# References

- Acea M.J. and Carballas T. 1996. Changes in physiological groups of microorganisms in soil following wildfire. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 20:33-39.
- Aciego P.J.C. and Brookes P.C. 2008. Relationships between soil pH and microbial properties in a UK arable soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40:1856-1861.
- Adamo P., Dudka, S., Wilson M.J., and McHardy W.J. 1996. Chemical and mineralogical forms of Cu and Ni in contaminated soils from the Sudbury mining and smelting region, Canada. Environmental Pollution 91(1):11-19.
- Alberta Energy, Government of Alberta. 2012. Accessed online on July 18, 2014 from http://www.energy.alberta.ca/index.asp
- Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, Government of Alberta. 2010. Accessed online on July 18, 2014 from http://esrd.alberta.ca/focus/state-of-the-environment/land/response-indicators/ coal-mining-development-and-reclamation/default.aspx
- Anderson T.H. and Domsch K.H. 1993. The metabolic quotient for CO<sub>2</sub> (qCO<sub>2</sub>) as a specific activity parameter to assess the effects of environmental conditions, such as pH, on the microbial biomass of forest soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 25: 393-395.
- Aronson J.C., Le Floc'h E., Ovalle C. and Pontanier R. 1993. Restoration and rehabilitation of degraded ecosystems in arid and semi-arid lands. II. Case studies in southern Tunisia, central Chile and northern Cameroon. Restoration Ecology 3: 168-187.
- Attiwill P.M. 1994. The disturbance of forest ecosystems: the ecological basis for conservative management. Forest Ecology and Management 63: 247-300
- **Bardgett R.D., Streeter R.C. and Bol R. 2003.** Soil microbes compete effectively with plants for organic-nitrogen inputs to temperate grasslands. Ecology 84(5):1277-1287
- **Beesley L. and Marmiroli M. 2011.** The immobilisation and retention of soluble arsenic, cadmium and zinc by biochar. Environmental Pollution 159: 474-480.
- Beesley L., Moreno-Jiménez E., and Gomez-Eyles J.L. 2010. Effects of biochar and greenwaste compost amendments on mobility, bioavailability and toxicity of

inorganic and organic contaminants in a multi-element polluted soil. Environmental Pollution 158: 2282-2287.

- **Boerner R.E. 1982.** Fire and nutrient cycling in temperate ecosystems. BioScience 32(3): 187-192.
- **Bradshaw A. 2000.** The use of natural processes in reclamation- advantages and difficulties. Landscape and Urban Planning 51:89-100.
- Bridgwater A.V., Meier D., and Radlein D. 1999. An overview of fast pyrolysis of biomass. Organic Geochemistry 30(15): 1479- 1493.
- **Bridle T.R. and Pritchard D. 2004.** Energy and nutrient recovery from sewage sludge via pyrolysis. Water Science and Technology 50(9):169-175.
- **Certini G. 2005.** Effects of fire on properties of forest soils:a review. Oecologia 143:1-10.
- **Chan K.Y., Van Zwieten L., and Meszaros I. 2007.** Assessing the agronomic values of contrasting char materials on Australian hardsetting soil. In Proceedings of the Conference of the International Agrlchar Initiative, Terrigal, NSW, Australia.
- Chan K.Y., Van Zwieten L., Meszaros I., Downie A. and Joseph S. 2007. Agronomic values of greenwaste biochar as a soil amendment. Australian Journal of Soil Research 45:629-634.
- **Chan K. Y. and Xu Z. 2009.** Biochar: Nutrient properties and their enhancement. In Biochar for environmental management: science and technology. Lehmann J. and Joseph S. Eds. pp 67-84.
- **Chen G., Zhuo J., Gao Q., and Wu X. 2006.** Adsorption of the ultrafine bamboo charcoal for Pb<sup>2+</sup> in water. Journal of Preventive Medicine of Chinese People's Liberation Army. 24(6):405-407.
- Chen X., Hu Z., Chen J., Ding Y., and You F. 2007. Adsorption properties of bamboo charcoal on copper (II) ion. Journal of Longyan University. 25(6):78-80.
- **Cheng C.H, Lehmann J., and Engelhard M.H. 2008.** Natural oxidation of black carbon in soils: changes in molecular form and surface charge along a climosequence. Geochimca et Cosmochim Acta, 72(6):1598-1610.

- **Cheng C.H., Lehmann J., Thies J.E., Burton S.D., and Engelhard M.H. 2006.** Oxidation of black carbon by biotic and abiotic processes. Organic Geochemistry 37(11):1477-1488.
- Christensen N.L. 1976. Short-term effects of mowing and burning on soil nutrients in Big Meadows, Shenandoah National Park. Journal of Range Management 29:508-509.
- **Chung K.H., Janke L.C.G, Dureau R. and Furimsky E. 1996.** Leachability of cokes from Syncrude stockpiles. Environmental Science and Engineering Magazine 3:50-53.
- **Cisneros-Dozal L.M., Trumbore S. and Hanson P.J. 2006.** Partitioning sources of soilrespired CO2 and their seasonal variation using a unique radiocarbon tracer. Global Change Biology, 12:194-204.
- Clough T. J., Bertram J. E., Ray J. L., Condron L.M., O'Callaghan M., Sherlock R.R and Wells N.S. 2010. Unweathered wood biochar impact on nitrous oxide emissions from a bovine- urine amended pasture soil. Soil Science Society of American Journal. 74(3):852- 860.
- Cumulative Environmental Management Association (CEMA). 2007. Land Capability Classification for Forest Ecosystems in the Oil Sands Region, 3rd Edition. Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta.
- **Dale V.H. and Joyce L.A. 2001.** Climate change and forest disturbances. BioScience. 51(9):723-734.
- **Davies G.M., Smith A.A., MacDonald A.J., Bakker J.D. and Legg C.J. 2010.** Fire intensity, fire severity and ecosystem response in heathlands: factors affecting the regeneration of Calluna vulgaris. Journal of Applied Ecology 47:356-365.
- **DeBano L.F., Neary D.G., and Ffolliott P.F. 1998.** Fire effects on ecosystems. Edited by Wiley. J , New York. ISBN: 0471163562.
- **Debela F., Thring R.W. and Arocena J.M. 2012.** Immobilization of heavy metals by co-pyrolysis of contaminated soil with woody biomass. Water Air and Soil Pollution 223:1161-1170.
- **DeLuca T.H., Nilsson M.C., and Zackrisson O. 2002.** Nitrogen and phenol accumulation along a fire chronosequencein northern Sweden. Oecologia 133:206-214.

- **Demirbas A. 2004.** Effects of temperature and particle size on bio- char yield from pyrolysis of agricultural residues. Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis. 72(2): 243-248.
- Dick R.P., Breakwill D.P., and Turco R.F., 1996. Soil enzyme activities and biodiversity measurements and integrating microbial indicators. In:Doran J.W. (Ed) Handbook of methods for assessment of soil quality. Soil Science Society of America Journal 247-272.
- **Donahue R.L., Robertson L.S., and Shickluna J.C. 1971.** Soils: an introduction to soils and plant growth. 3rd edition. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, US.
- **Downie A., Crosky A., and Munroe P. 2009.** Physical properties of biochar. In Lehmann J., Joseph S. (Eds.), Biochar for Environmental Management:Science and Technology, Earthscan, London, pp.13-32.
- **Downie A.E., Van Zwieten L., Smernik R.J., Morris S. and Munroe P.R. 2011.** Terra Preta Australis: Reassessing the carbon storage capacity of temperate soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 140: 137-147
- **Driscoll K.G., Arocena J.M., and Massicotte H.B., 1999.** Post-fire soil nitrogen content and vegetation composition in Sub-Boreal spruce forests of British Columbia's central interior, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 121:227-237.
- **Dudka S. and Adriano D.C. 1997.** Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: a review. Journal of Environmental Quality 26(3): 590-602.
- Eckford R. and Gao T.T.J. 2009. Development of a preliminary database of digestate chemistry, heavy metal and pathogen content to assist in Alberta regulation compliance. Carbon & Energy Management, Alberta Research Council, 250 Karl Clark road, Edmonton, AB. p10. Accessed online on Oct. 20, 2014 from http://www.energy.alberta.ca/BioEnergy/pdfs/HeavyMetalReport.pdf
- **EPEA, Government of Alberta. 2014.** Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act. Accessed online on July 18, 2014 from http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/ acts/e12.pdf
- Ewel J.J. 1987. Restoration is the ultimate test of ecological theory. In: Restoration Ecology, a Synthetic Approach to Ecological Research (eds W. R. Jordan, M. E. Gilpin & J. D. Aber), Cambridge Press, Cambridge. pp. 31-33.

- Ezawa T., Yamamoto K., and Yoshida S. 2002. Enhancement of the effectiveness of indigenous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi by inorganic soil amendments. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 48:897-900.
- Fellet G., Marchiol L. Vedove D. and Peressotti A. 2011. Application of biochar on mine tailings: Effects and perspectives for land reclamation. Chemosphere 83(9):1262-1267.
- Forster P., Ramaswamy V., Artaxo P., Berntsen T., Betts R., Fahey D.W., Haywood J., Lean J., Lowe D.C., Myhre G., Nganga J., Prinn R.G., Raga G., Schulz M., and Van Dorland R. 2007. Changes in atmospheric constituents and in radiative forcing. In Solomon S. et al. (ed.) Climate change 2007: The physical basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp.129-234.
- **Fritze H., Pennanen T. and Pietiklinen J. 1993.** Recovery of soil microbial biomass and activity from prescribed burning. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23: 1286-1290.
- Fuertes A.B., Arbestain M.C., Sevilla M. 2010. Chemical and structural properties of carbonaceous products obtained by pyrolysis and hydrothermal carbonisation of corn stover. Soil Resarch 48(7): 618-626.
- Fung M.Y.P. and Macyk T.M. 2000. Reclamation of oil sands mining areas. In: Barmhisel R. I., Darmody R. G., and Daniels W. L.(Eds.). Reclamation of drastically disturbed lands. Agronomy Monograph no. 41. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin, US. pp.755-774
- **Furimsky E. 1998.** Gasification of oil sands coke: review. Fuel Processing Technology 56:263-290.
- García- Corona R. and Benito E. 2004. Effects of heating on some soil physical properties related to its hydrological behavior in two north- western Spanish soils. International Journal of Wildland fire 13:159-199.
- Gaskin J.W., Steiner C., Harris K.2008. Effect of low temperature pyrolysis conditions on biochars for agricultural use. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers 51(6): 2061-2069.
- Gaunt J.L. and Lehmann J. 2008. Energy balance and emissions associated with biochar sequestration and pyrolysis bioenergy production. Environmental Science & Technology 42:4152-4158.

- **Gema B.M. and Fuensanta G.O. 2011.** Soil microbial recolonisation after a fire in a Mediterranean forest. Biology and Fertility of Soils 47:261-272
- **Gianinazzi-Pearson V. 1996.** Plant cell responses to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: getting to the roots of the symbiosis. The Plant Cell 8(10):1871.
- Gill A.M. and Groves R.H. 1981. Fire regimes in heath- lands and their plant-ecological effects. Ecosystems of the World:Heathlands and Related Shrublands. B. Analytical Studies (ed. R.L. Specht. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Holland) pp. 61-84.
- **Giovannini G., Lucchesi S., and Giachetti M.1988.** Effects of heating on some physical and chemical parameters related to soil aggregation and erodibility. Soil Science 146:255-261.
- Glaser B., Guggenberger G., and Zech W. 2003. Past anthropogenic influence on the present soil properties of anthropogenic dark earths (Terra preta) in Amazonia (Brazil). In: Glaser B. and Woods W.I. (Eds.). Explorations in Amazonian Dark Earths(in press). Berlin and Heidelberg, Springer.
- **Glass A.D.M. 1989.** Physiological mechanisms involved with genotypic differences in ion absorption and utilization. Hortscience 24:559-564.
- **Goldberg E.D. 1985.** What is Black Carbon? In: Black carbon in the environment: properties and distribution. Edited by Wiley J. New York, USA. ISBN: 0471819794
- Gomez-Eyles J.L., Sizmur T., Collins C.D., and Hodson M.E. 2011. Effects of biochar and the earthworm Eisenia fetida on the bioavailability of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and potentially toxic elements. Environmental Pollution. 159:616-622.
- Government of Alberta. 2014. Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act. Accessed online on July 18, 2014 from http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/ acts/e12.pdf
- Grier C.C. 1975. Wildfire effects on nutrient distribution and leaching in a coniferous ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 5:599-607.
- Hamer U., Marschner B., Brodowski S. 2004. Interactive priming of black carbon and glucose mineralization. Organic Geochemistry 35(7): 823-830.

- Harris J., Birch A.P., and Short K.C. 1993. The impact of storage of soils during opencast mining on the microbial community: a strategist theory interpretation. Restoration Ecology 1:88-100.
- Harte M. and Kinzig A.P. 1993. Mutualism and competition between plants and decomposers: implications for nutrient allocation in ecosystems. The American Naturalist. 141: 829-846.
- **Hastings A. 1980.** Disturbance, coexistence, history, and competition for space. Theoretical population biology 18:363-373.
- Herrera M.A., Salamanca C.P., and Barea J.M. 1993. Inoculation of woody legumes with selected arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and rhizobia to recover desertified mediterranean ecosystems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 59:1129-1133.
- Hicke J.A., Asner G.P., Kasischke E. S., French N., Randerson J.T., Collatz G.J., Stocks B.J., Tucker C.J., Los S.O., and Field C.B. 2003. Postfire response of North American boreal forest net primary productivity analyzed with satellite observations. Global Change Biology 9(8):1145-1157.
- Hobbs R.J. and Norton D.A. 1996. Toward a conceptual framework for restoration ecology. Restoration Ecology 4:93-110.
- Hortenstine C.C. and Rothwell D.F. 1972. Use of municipal compost in reclamation of phosphate-mining sand tailings. Journal of Environmental Quality 1(4):415-418.
- **Huang B. and Chen X. 2006.** Structural and property characteristic of Chinese Fir wood charcoal prepared under various conditions. Spectroscopy and spectral analysis 26(3): 455-459.
- **Imeson A.C, Verstraten J.M., van Mulligen E.J., and Sevink J. 1992.** The effects of fire and water repellency on infiltration and runoff under Mediterranean type forest. Catena 19:345-361.
- **Insam H. and Haselwandter K. 1989.** Metabolic Quotient of the Soil Microflora in Relation to Plant Succession. Oecologia 79(2):174-178.
- **IPCC. 2007.** Fourth Assessment Report by Working Group I. Chapter 2. Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing, which contains information on global warming potential (GWP) of greenhouse gases.
- **IUPAC, Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book"). 1997.** Online corrected version: petroleum coke.

- **Iverson L.R. and Wali M.K. 1982.** Reclamation of coal mined lands: the role of Kochia scoparia and other pioneers in early succession. Reclamation and Revegetation Research 1:123-160.
- Jin H., 2010. Characterization of microbial life colonizing biochar and biochar amended soils. PhD Dissertation, Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, US.
- John H.D. 2002. IUPAC technical report- Heavy metals- a meaningless term? Pure and Applied Chemistry 74:793-807.
- Johnson E.A. and Miyanishi K. 2008. Creating New Landscapes and Ecosystems. Annals of the New York Academy of Science 1134:120-145.
- Johnson D.W., Susfalk R.B., Caldwell T.G., Murphy J.R., Miller W.W., and Walker R.F. 2004. Fire effects on carbon and nitrogen budgets in forests. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 4:263-275.
- Jones D.L., Rousk J., Edwards-Jones G., DeLuca T.H., and Murphy D.V. 2012. Biochar-mediated changes in soil quality and plant growth in a 3 year field trial. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 45:113-124.
- Jonnalagadda S.B., Kindness A., and Chunilall V. 2006. Effect of Coal Mine Soil Contamination on the Elemental Uptake and Distribution in Two Edible Amaranthus Species, *A. dubius and A. hybridus*. Journal of Environmental Science and Health (Part B) 41:747-764.
- Joseph S. and Taylor P. 2014. The production and application of biochar in soils. In: Advances in Biorefineries- Biomass and Waste Supply Chain Exploitation. Edited by: K.W. Waldron. DOI: 10.1533/9780857097385.2.525. ISBN: 978-0-85709-521-3. pp.16:525-555.
- Kalra Y.P. and Maynard D.G. 1991. Methods manual for forest soil and plant analysis. Forestry Canada northwest region northern forestry center. NOR-X-319, Edmonton, AB,Canada.
- Kandeler E. and Gerber H. 1988. Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. Biology and Fertility of Soils 6:68-72.
- Karami N., Clemente R., Moreno-Jiménez E., Lepp N.W. and Beesley L. 2011. Efficiency of green waste compost and biochar soil amendments for reducing lead and copper mobility and uptake to ryegrass. Journal of Hazardous Materials 191(1-3): 41- 48.

- Kevresan S., Petrovic N., Popovic M. and Kandrac J. 1998. Effect of heavy metals on nitrate and protein metabolism in sugar beet. Biologia Plantarum 41(2):235-240
- **Kirsten S., Melanie M., and Matthew B.D. 2010.** First-order fire effects on herbs and shrubs: present knowledge and process modeling needs. Fire Ecology 6(1):95-115.
- **Kishimoto S. and Sugiura G. 1985.** Charcoal as a soil conditioner. Achieve Future 5:12-23.
- Komarek E.V. 1969. Fire and animal behavior. In: Proceedings of the 9th annual Tall Timbers Fire Ecology conference. Tall Timbers Research Station, Tallahassee, Florida, US. pp.161-207.
- Korczynskyj D. and Lamont B.B. 2005. Grasstree (*Xanthorrhoea preissii*) recovery after fire in two seasons and habitats. In: Australian Journal of Botany 53(6): 509-515. DOI:10.1071/BT05006
- **Kronzucker H.J., Siddiqi M. Y., and Glass A.D.M. 1995.** Kinetics of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> influx in spruce. Plant physiology 109:319-326.
- **Kronzucker H.J., Siddiqi M. Y., and Glass A.D.M. 1996.** Kinetics of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> influx in spruce. Plant physiology 110:773-779.
- Kronzucker H.J., Siddiqi M. Y., and Glass A.D.M. 1997. Conifer root discrimination against soil nitrate and the ecology of forest succession. Nature 385:59-61.
- Krull E.S., Baldock J.A., Skemstad J.O. and Smernik R.J. 2009. Characteristics of biochar: organo-chemical properties. In: Biochar for environmental management: science and technology. Eds. Lehmann J. and Joseph S. pp. 53-65.
- Kutiel P. and Naveh Z. 1987a. Soil properties beneath Pinus halepensis and Quercus calliprinos trees on burnt and unburnt mixed forest on Mt. Carmel, Israel. Forest Ecology and Management 20:11-24.
- Kutiel P. and Naveh Z. 1987b. The effect of fire on nutrients in a pine forest soil. Plant and Soil 104: 269-274.
- Laird D., Fleming P., Wang B., Horton R., and Karlen D. 2010. Biochar impact on nutrient leaching from a Midwestern agricultural soil. Geoderma 158:436-442.

- Lal R., Kimble J.M., Follet R.F., and Cole C.V. 1998. The Potential of U.S. Cropland to Sequester Carbon and Mitigate the Greenhouse Effect. Ann Arbour Press, Chelsea, London, UK. p.128
- Lanoue, A. 2003. Phosphorus content and accumulation of carbon and nitrogen in boreal forest soils. M.Sc. Thesis. University of Alberta, Edmonton.
- Lehmann J. and Joseph S. 2009. Biochar for Environmental Management: Science and Technology, Earthscan, London, UK. pp.183-205.
- **Lehmann J. 2007.** Bio-energy in the black. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. 5(7):381-387.
- Lehmann, J., Pereira da Silva, J., Steiner C., Nehls T., Zech W., and Glaser B. 2003. Nutrient availability and leaching in an archaeological Anthrosol and a Ferralsol of the Central Amazon basin: fertilizer, manure and charcoal amendments. Plant Soil 249:343-357.
- Lehmann J. and Rondon M. 2006. Biochar soil management on highly weathered soils in the humid tropics. In: Ball, A.S., Fernandes, E., Herren, H., Husson, O., Laing,M., Palm, C., Pretty, J., Sanchez, P., Sanginga, N., Thies, J. (Eds.). Biological Approaches to Sustainable Soil Systems. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, US. pp. 517-530.
- Levei E., Frentiu T., Ponta M., Senila M., Miclean M., Roman C., and Cordos
  E.2009. Characterisation of soil quality and mobility of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn in the Baia Mare area Northwest Romania following the historical pollution.
  International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry. 89:635-649.
- Liang B., Lehmann J., Kinyangi D., O'Neil B., Skjemstad J.O., Thies J., Luizao F.J., Petersen J. and Neves E.G. 2006. Black carbon increases cation exchange capacity in soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 70(5):1719-1730.
- Liu J., He Z., and Wang S. 2002. Formation mechanism of carbon fiber biofilms I. Effects of carbon fiber surface characteristics on the immobilization of microorganisms. New carbon materials 17(3):20-24
- Lucas E.N., Eric D.V., Christopher W.S., and Peter S.C. 2011. Fire effects on temperate forest soil C and N storage. Ecological Application 21(4):1189-1201.
- Lucas. R. E., Rieke P. E. and Farnham R. S. 1966. Peats for soil improvement and soil mixes. Agricultural Extension Bulletin, No. 516. Michigan States University, East Lansing, Michigan, US. p.11.

- Luke B. and Eduardo M.J. 2011. A review of biochars' potential role in the remediation, revegetation and restoration of contaminated soils. Environmental Pollution 159:3269-3282.
- Lyon L., Jack C., and Hewlette S. 1978. Effects of fire on fauna: A state- ofknowledge review. General Technical Report WO-6, Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Washington, U.S. p.22.
- MacKenzie M. D. and DeLuca T.H. 2006. Charcoal and shrubs modify soil processes in ponderosa pine forests of western Montana. Plant and Soil 287:257-266.
- MacKenzie D.D and Naeth M.A. 2007. Assisted natural recovery using a forest soil propagule bank in the Athabasca oil sands. In: seeds: Biology, Development and Ecology. Edited by Adkins S., Ashmore S. and Navie S.C. Wallingford, UK: CAB International. pp. 460
- MacKenzie D.D. and Naeth M.A. 2009. The role of the forest soil propagule bank in assisted natural recovery after oil sands mining. Restoration Ecology 18 (4):418-427
- Makoto K., Tamai Y., Kim Y.S., and Koike T. 2010. Buried charcoal layer and ectomy-corrhizae cooperatively promote the growth of *Larix gmelinii* seedlings. Plant and Soil 327:143-152.
- Massey H.F. and Harnhisel R.I. 1972. Copper, nickel, and zinc release from acid coal mine spoil materials of eastern Kentucky. Soil Science 113(3):207-212.
- McGrath S.P. 1987. Long term studies of metal transfers following application of sewage sludge. In: Pollutant Transport and Fate in Ecosystems (Coughtrey, P. J., Martin, M. H., and Unsworth, M. H., eds.), British Ecological Society, London, pp. 301-317.
- McLaren R.G. and Crawford D.V. 1973. Studies on soil copper I. The fractionation of copper in soils. Journal of Soil Science 24:172-181.
- McMillan R., Quideau S.A., MacKenzie M.D. and Biryukova O. 2007. Nitrogen mineralization and microbial activity in oil sands reclaimed boreal forest soils. Journal of Environmental Quality 36:1470-1478.
- Megharaj M., Isabel M., Matthias K., Morris M.H., Frank B., Kenneth N.T., and Andreas H. 1998. Genetic requirements for the expression of benzylamine

dehydrogenase activity in *Pseudomonas putida*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 166:109-114.

- Masiello C.A. 2004. New directions in black carbon organic geochemistry. Marine Chemistry 92(1):201-213.
- Messing R.A., Oppermann R.A., and Kolot F.B. 1979. Pore dimensions for accumulating biomass. II. Microbes that form spores and exhibit mycelial growth. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 21(1):59-67.
- Min X., Siddiqi M.Y., Guy R.D., Glass A.D.M. and Kronzucker H.J. 1998. Induction of nitrate uptake and nitrate reductase activity in trembling aspen and lodgepole pine. Plant, Cell and Environment 21: 1039- 1046.
- **Moffat A.S. 1995.** Plants proving their worth in toxic metal clean up. Science 269: 302-303.
- Mohammad A.H.B., Parvez L., Islam M.A., Dampare S.B. and Suzuki S. 2010. Heavy metal pollution of coal mine-affected agricultural soils in the northern part of Bangladesh. Journal of Hazardous Materials 173: 384-392.
- Mohan D., Pittman C.U., and Steele P.H. 2006. Pyrolysis of Wood/Biomass for Biooil: A Critical Review. Energy and Fuels 20(3): 848-889.
- Moynahan O.S., Zabinski C.A., and Gannon J.E. 2002. Microbial community structure and carbon-utilization diversity in a mine tailings revegetation study. Restoration Ecology 20:77-87.
- Mukherjee A., Zimmerman A.R., and Harris W. 2011. Surface chemistry variations among a series of laboratory-produced biochars. Geoderma 163:247-255.
- Nakata C.K. 2007. Petroleum coke and plants: Impact on growth and physiology. MSc Thesis. Department of Botany, University of Manitoba. Winnipeg, Manitoba. 152 pp.
- Natural Resources Canada. 2014. Fire. Accessed online on July 20, 2014 from http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/forests/fire/13143
- Nave L.E., Vance E.D., Swanston C.W., and Curtis P.S. 2011. Fire effects on temperate forest soil C and N storage. Ecological Application 21(4):1189-1201.

- Neary D.G., Klopatek C.C., DeBano L.F., and Ffolliott P.F. 1999. Fire effects on belowground sustainability: a review and synthesis. Forest Ecology and Management 122:51-71.
- Nelson D.W. and Sommers L.E. 1982. Total carbon, organic carbon and organic matter. In: Methods of soil analysis (Ed. Page A.L.). Part 2. Agronomy Monographs 9. ASA and SSSA, Madison. WI. pp. 539-579.
- Norman M.A., Koch J.M., Grant C.D., Morald T.K., and Ward S.C. 2006. Vegetation succession after bauxite mining in Western Australia. Restoration Ecology 14:278–288.
- **Nowack B. 2008.** Chelating agents and the environment. Environmental pollution 153(1): 1-2.
- Okimori Y., Ogawa M., and Takahashi F. 2003. Potential of CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions by carbonizing biomass waste from industrial tree plantation in south Sumatra, Indonesia. Mitigat. Adaptat. Strateg. Global Change 8:261-280.
- O'Laughlin J. and McElligott K. 2009. Book review- Biochar for Environmental Management: Science and Technology. Lehmann J., Joseph S. (Eds.), Earthscan, London, UK. Forest Policy and Economics 11(7): 535-536.
- **Owen A.G. and Jones D.L. 2001.** Competition for amino acids between wheat roots and rhizosphere microorganisms and the role of amino acids in plant N acquisition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33:651-657.
- Palese A.M., Giovannini G., Lucchesi S., Dumontet S., and Perucci P. 2004. Effect of fire on soil C, N and microbial biomass. Agronomie 24(1):47-53
- Park J. H., Choppala G.K., Bolan N.S., Chung J.W., and Chuasavathi T. 2011. Biochar reduces the bioavailability and phytotoxicity of heavy metals. Plant Soil 348:439-451.
- Pichtel J.R., Dick W.A. and Sutton P. 1992. Comparison of amendments and management practices for long- term reclamation of abandoned mine lands. Journal of Environmental Quality. (23)4:766-772.
- **Pietikäinen J., Kiikkilä O., and Fritze H. 2000.** Charcoal as a habitat for microbes and its effects on the microbial community of the underlying humus. Oikos 89:231-242.

- Pinno B.D., Landhäusser S.M., MacKenzie M.D., Quideau S.A., Chow P.S. 2011. Trembling aspen seedling establishment, growth and response to fertilization on contrasting soils used in oil sands reclamation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92(1):143-151.
- **Polo M.S. and Utrilla J.R. 2002.** Adsorbent-adsorbate interactions in the adsorption of Cd(II) and Hg(II) on ozonized activated carbons. Environmental science & technology 36:3850-3854.
- Ramanathan V. and Carmichael G. 2008. Global and regional climate changes due to black carbon. Nature Geoscience (1): 221-22
- Rathore C.S. and Wright R. 1993. Monitoring environmental impacts of surface coal mining. International Journal of Remote Sensing 14(6): 1021-1042.
- **Roberts W.B. 1965.** Soil temperatures under a pile of burning logs. Australian Forest Research 1:21-25.
- **Robichaud P.P. 2000.** Fire effects on infiltration rates after prescribed fire in Northern Rocky Mountain forests, USA. Journal of Hydrology 231:220-229.
- Palese A.M., Giovannini G., Lucchesi S., Dumontet S., and Perucci P. 2004. Effect of fire on soil C, N and microbial biomass. Agronomie 24(1):47-53
- Park J.H., Choppala G.K., Bolan N.S., Chung J.W. and Chuasavathi T. 2011. Biochar reduces the bioavailability and phytotoxicity of heavy metals. Plant and Soil 348:439-451.
- **Parkhurst D., Dryden F.D. 1967.** Pomona activated carbon pilot plant. Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation 39(10): 70-81.
- Pichtel J.R., Dick W.A. and Sutton P. 1992. Comparison of amendments and management practices for long- term reclamation of abandoned mine lands. Journal of Environmental Quality (23)4: 766-772.
- Pietikäinen J., Kiikkilä O., and Fritze H. 2000. Charcoal as a habitat for microbes and its effects on the microbial community of the underlying humus. Oikos 89:231-242.
- Pinno B.D., Landhäusser S.M., MacKenzie M.D., Quideau S.A., Chow P.S. 2011. Trembling aspen seedling establishment, growth and response to fertilization on contrasting soils used in oil sands reclamation. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92(1):143-151.

- Prieto- Fernández A., Villar M.C., Carballas M., and Carballas T. 1993. Short- term effects of a wildfire on the nitrogen status and its mineralization kinetics in an Atlantic forest soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 25:1657-1664.
- Quevauviller P., Lachica M., Barahona E., Rauret G., Ure A., Gomez A., and Muntau H. 1996. Interlaboratory comparison of EDTA and DTPA procedures prior to certification of extractable trace elements in calcareous soil. Science of Total Environment 178:127-132.
- Raich J. and Potter C. 1995. Global patterns of carbon dioxide emissions from soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 9:23-36.
- **Raison R.J. 1979.** Modifications of the soil environment by vegetation fires, with particular reference to nitrogen transformations: a review. Plant and Soil 51:73-108.
- **Raison R.J., Khanna P.K., and Woods P.V. 1985.** Mechanisms of element transfer to the atmosphere during vegetation fires. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 15:132-140.
- Rathore C.S. and Wright R. 1993. Monitoring environmental impacts of surface coal mining. International Journal of Remote Sensing 14(6):1021-1042.
- Ravishankara A.R., Daniel J.S., and Portmann R.W. 2009. Nitrous oxide (N2O): The dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326:123-125.
- **Rivera-Utrilla J., Bautista-Toledo I. 2001.** Activated carbon surface modifications by adsorption of bacteria and their effect on aqueous lead adsorption. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology 76(12):1209-1215.
- **Roberts W.B. 1965.** Soil temperatures under a pile of burning logs. Australian Forest Research 1:21-25.
- **Robichaud P.P. 2000.** Fire effects on infiltration rates after prescribed fire in Northern Rocky Mountain forests, USA. Journal of Hydrology 231:220-229.
- Rondon M.A., Molina D., Hurtado M. 2006. Enhancing the productivity of crops and grasses while reducing greenhouse gas emissions through bio-char amendments to unfertile tropical soils. 18th World Congress of Soil Science. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.

- Schmidt J.P. 1997. Understanding phytotoxicity thresholds for trace elements in land applied sewage sludge. Journal of Environmental Quality 26:4-10.
- Scott A.C. and Fedorak P.M. 2004. Petroleum coking: a review of coking processes and characteristics, stability, and environmental aspects of coke produced by oil sands companies. Suncor Energy Inc., Syncrude Canada Ltd., Canadian Natural Resources Ltd. Fort McMurray, Alberta. 139pp.
- Seaker E.M. and Sopper W.E. 1998. Municipal sludge for minespoil reclamation: I. Effects on microbial populations and activity. Journal of Environmental Quality 17(4):591-597.
- Sevink J., Imeson A.C., and Verstraten J.M. 1989. Humus form development and hillslope runoff, and the effects of fire and management, under Mediterranean forest in NE-Spain. Catena 16:461-475.
- Simard D.G., Fyles J.W., Paré D., and Nguyen T. 2001. Impacts of clearcut harvesting and wildfire on soil nutrient status in the Quebec boreal forest. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 81:229-237.
- Sims J.L. and Eivazi F. 1997. Testing molybdenum availability in soils. In: Molybdenum in agriculture (Ed. Gupta, U.C.). Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, New York. Pp. 111-130.
- Singh B., Singh B.P, and Cowie A.L. 2010. Characterisation and evaluation of biochars for their application as a soil amendment. Australian Journal Soil Research 48(6-7): 516-525.
- Small C.C., Hashisho Z. and Ulrich A.C. 2012. Preparation and characterization of activated carbon from oil sands coke. Fuel 92(1):69-76.
- Smith S.E. and Read D.J. 2010. The symbionts forming arbuscular mycorrhizas. In: Mycorrhizal symbiosis, 3rd edition. Academic press, New York, US. pp.13-38.
- Sohi S.P. and Krull E. 2010. Chapter2- A review of biochar and its use and function in soil. Advances in Agronomy 105: 47-82.
- Solaiman Z.M., Blackwell P., Abbott L.K. and Storer P. 2010. Direct and residual effectof biochar application on mycorrhizal colonization, growth and nutrition of wheat. Australian Journal of Soil Research 48:546-554.
- Soler-Rovira P., Soler-Soler J., Soler-Rovira J., and Polo A. 1996. Agricultural use of sewage sludge and its regulation. Fertilizer research 43:173-177.

- **Spokas K.A. and Donald C.R. 2009.** Impacts of Sixteen Different Biochars on Soil Greenhouse Gas Production. Annal of Environmental Science 3:179-193.
- Spokas K.A., Baker J.M., and Reicosky D.C. 2010. Ethylene: Potential key or biochar amendment impacts. Plant and Soil 333(1): 443-452.
- Spokas K.A., Koskinen W.C., Baker J.M. and Reicosky D.C. 2009. Impacts of woodchip biochar additions on greenhouse gas production and sorption/ degradation of two herbicides in a Minnesota soil. Chemosphere 77(4): 547-581.
- Steinbeiss S., Gleixner G., and Antonietti M. 2009. Effect of biochar amendment on soil carbon balance and soil microbial activity. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41:1301-1310.
- Steiner C., Glaser B., Teixeira W.G., Lehmann J., Blum W.E.H. and Zech W. 2008. Nitrogen retention and plant uptake on a highly weathered central Amazonian Ferralsol amended with compost and charcoal. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 171:893-899.
- Steiner C., Teixeira W.G., Lehmann J., Nehls T., Macêdo J.L., Blum W.E.H., and Zech W. 2007. Long term effects of manure, charcoal and mineral fertilization on crop production and fertility on a highly weathered Central Amazonian upland soil. Plant and Soil 291:275-287.
- Steiner C., Teixeira W.G., Lehmann J. and Zech W. 2004. Microbial response to charcoal amendments of highly weathered soils and Amazonian Dark Earths in Central Amazonia- preliminary results. In:Amazonian Dark Earths:Explorations in Space and Time (Glaser B and Woods WI, eds), pp. 195-212.
- Sylvia D.M. 1990. Inoculation of native woody plants with vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for phosphate mine land reclamation. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 31(3):253-261.
- Taghizadeh- Toosi A., Clough T.J., and Condron L.M. 2011. Biochar incorporation into pasture soil suppresses in situ nitrous oxide emissions from ruminant urine patches. Journal of Environmental Quality 40(2): 468- 476.
- Taghizadeh-Toosi A., Clough T.J., Sherlock R.R., and Condron L.M. 2012. Biochar adsorbed ammonia is bioavailable. Plant and Soil 350:57-69.
- **Tejada M., Garciab C., Gonzalezc J.L., and Hernandezb M.T. 2006.** Use of organic amendment as a strategy for saline soil remediation: Influence on the physical,

chemical and biological properties of soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38(6): 1413-1421

- Thies J.E. and Rillig M. 2009. Characteristics of biochar:biological properties. In: Lehmann, J., Joseph, S.M. (Eds.). Biochar for Environmental Management: Science and Technology, Earthscan, London UK. pp. 85-105.
- **Tiedje J.M. 1988.** Ecology of denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. *In:* Zehnder A.J.B. (Ed.), Biology of Anaerobic Microorganisms. Edited by Wiley J. and Sons, New York, US. pp. 179-244
- Toy T.J., Foster G.R., and Renard K.G. 2002. Soil erosion: processes, prediction, measurement, and control. Edited by Wiley J. and Sons.New York, US. ISBN: 0471383694 9780471383697
- Uchimiya M., Lima I.M., Klasson K.T., and Wartelle L.H. 2010. Contaminant immobilization and nutrient release by biochar soil amendment: Roles of natural organic matter. Chemosphere 80:935-940
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. 1991. ESS Method 220.3: Ammonia Nitrogen and Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen, Automated Flow Injection Analysis Method. Environmental Sciences Section, Inorganic Chemistry Unit, Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene, 465 Henry Mall, Madison, WI. p (3) 155-161. Accessed online on Oct. 20, 2014 from http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/lmmb/methods/ methd220.pdf.
- Vaccari F.P., Baronti S., Lugatoa E., Genesioa L., Castaldib S., Fornasierc F., and Migliettaa F. 2011. Biochar as a strategy to sequester carbon and increase yield in durum wheat. European Journal of Agronomy 34(4):231-238.
- Vance E.D., Brookes P.C., and Jenkinson D.S. 1987. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass-C. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 19:703-707.
- Verma S. and Jayakumar S. 2012. Impact of forest fire on physical, chemical and biological properties of soil: A review. Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences 2(3):168-176
- Visser S., Zak J., and Parkinson D. 1979. Effects of surface mining on soil microbial communities and processes. In: Ecology and coal resource development. Edited by Wali M.K. Pergamon Press, New York. pp. 643-651.
- Warnock D.D., Lehmann J., Kuyper T.W., and Rillig M.C. 2007. Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in soil concepts and mechanisms. Plant and Soil 300:9-20.

- Warnock D.D., Mummey D.L., McBride B., Major J., Lehmann J., and Rillig M.C. 2010. Influences of non-herbaceous biochar on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal abundances in roots and soils: Results from growth-chamber and field experiments. Applied Soil Ecology 46:450-456.
- Wasylyshen L. 2002. Growing barley in coke. BSc Thesis. University of Saskatchewan, Department of Soil Science. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. 32 pp.
- Western Ag Innovations Incorporation. 2014. About PRS-Probes. Accessed online on July 20, 2014 from <u>http://www.westernag.ca/innovations/technology/basics</u>
- White P.S. and Pickett S.T.A. 1985. Natural disturbance and patch dynamics: an introduction. In: Pickett S.T.A. and White P.S.(Eds.). The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, New York, US. pp. 3-13.
- White E.M., Thompson W.W., and Gartner F.R. 1973. Heat effects on nutrient release from soils under ponderosa pine. Journal of Range Management 26:22-24.
- Wilckea W., Hessb T., Bengelb C., Homeierc J., Valarezod C., and Zechb W. 2005. Coarse woody debris in a montane forest in Ecuador: mass, C and nutrient stock, and turnover. Forest Ecology and Management 205:139-147
- Wulfsberg G. 2000. Inorganic Chemistry, University Science Books. Sausalito, CA.
- Xiang X., Shi Y., Yang J., Kong J., Lin X., Zhang H, Zeng J. and Chu H. 2014. Rapid recovery of soil bacterial communities after wildfire in a Chinese boreal forest. Scientific Reports 4. Accessed online on August 1, 2014 from http://www.nature.com/srep/2014/140123/ srep03829/full/srep03829.html
- Yam T.Y., Ernst R., Arditti J., Nair H., and Weatherhead M.A. 1990. Charcoal in orchid seed germination and tissue culture media: a review. Lindleyana 5:256-265.
- **Yanai Y., Toyota K. and Okazaki M. 2007.** Effects of charcoal addition on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soil resulting from rewetting air-dried soil in short- term incubation experiments. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 53(2):181-188.
- Yao Y., Gao B., Zhang M., Inyang M. and Zimmerman A.R. 2012. Effect of biochar amendment on sorption and leaching of nitrate, ammonium, and phosphate in a sandy soil. Chemosphere 89(11):1467-1471.

- Yuan J. and Xu R. 2011. Comparison of the ameliorating effects on an acidic ultisol between four crop straws and their biochars. Journal of Soils Sediments 11:741-750.
- Yuan J., Xu R., and Zhang H. 2011. The forms of alkalis in the biochar produced from crop residues at different temperatures. Bioresource Technology 102(3):3488-3497.
- Zhang A.F., Cui L., Pan G. 2010. Effect of biochar amendment on yield and methane and nitrous oxide emissions from a rice paddy from Yai Lake plain. China. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 139(4): 469- 475.